brought to you by 🗸 CORE

Chapman University Chapman University Digital Commons

Mathematics, Physics, and Computer Science Faculty Articles and Research Science and Technology Faculty Articles and Research

2013

Pontryagin De Branges-Rovnyak Spaces of Slice Hyperholomorphic Functions

Daniel Alpay
Chapman University, alpay@chapman.edu

Fabrizio Colombo Politecnico di Milano

Irene Sabadini Politecnico di Milano

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.chapman.edu/scs_articles

Part of the <u>Algebra Commons</u>, <u>Discrete Mathematics and Combinatorics Commons</u>, and the Other Mathematics Commons

Recommended Citation

D. Alpay, F. Colombo and I. Sabadini. Pontryagin de Branges-Rovnyak spaces of slice hyperholomorphic functions. Journal d'Analyse Mathématique, vol. 121 (2013), no. 1, 876371

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Science and Technology Faculty Articles and Research at Chapman University Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Mathematics, Physics, and Computer Science Faculty Articles and Research by an authorized administrator of Chapman University Digital Commons. For more information, please contact laughtin@chapman.edu.

Pontryagin De Branges-Rovnyak Spaces of Slice Hyperholomorphic Functions

Comments

This is a pre-copy-editing, author-produced PDF of an article accepted for publication in *Journal d'Analyse Mathématique*, volume 121, issue 1, in 2013 following peer review. The final publication is available at Springer via DOI: 10.1007/s11854-013-0028-8

Copyright

Springer

PONTRYAGIN DE BRANGES ROVNYAK SPACES OF SLICE HYPERHOLOMORPHIC FUNCTIONS

DANIEL ALPAY, FABRIZIO COLOMBO, AND IRENE SABADINI

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Slice hyperholomorphic functions	3
3.	Slice hyperholomorphic multiplication	E
4.	Multipliers in reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces	7
5.	Blaschke products	12
6.	Interpolation in the Hardy space	18
7.	Quaternionic Pontryagin spaces	22
8.	Negative squares	24
9.	Generalized Schur functions	26
10.	Generalized Carathéodory functions	29
References		32

ABSTRACT. We study reproducing kernel Hilbert and Pontryagin spaces of slice hyperholomorphic functions which are analogs of the Hilbert spaces of analytic functions introduced by de Branges and Rovnyak. In the first part of the paper we focus on the case of Hilbert spaces, and introduce in particular a version of the Hardy space. Then we define Blaschke factors and Blaschke products and we consider an interpolation problem. In the second part of the paper we turn to the case of Pontryagin spaces. We first prove some results from the theory of Pontryagin spaces in the quaternionic setting and, in particular, a theorem of Shmulyan on densely defined contractive linear relations. We then study realizations of generalized Schur functions and of generalized Carathéodory functions.

1. Introduction

Functions s analytic in the open unit disk $\mathbb D$ and contractive there, or equivalently such that the kernel

$$\frac{1 - s(z)s(w)^*}{1 - zw^*}$$

¹⁹⁹¹ Mathematics Subject Classification. MSC: 47B32, 47S10, 30G35.

Key words and phrases. Generalized Schur functions, realization, reproducing kernels, Pontryagin spaces, slice hyperholomorphic functions, S-resolvent operators.

The authors are grateful to Prof. V. Bolotnikov for the useful discussions and for a careful reading of the manuscript. D. Alpay thanks the Earl Katz family for endowing the chair which supported his research, and the Binational Science Foundation Grant number 2010117. F. Colombo and I. Sabadini acknowledge the Center for Advanced Studies of the Mathematical Department of the Ben-Gurion University of the Negev for the support and the kind hospitality during the period in which this paper has been written.

is positive definite in \mathbb{D} , play an important role in operator theory, and their study is a part of a field called Schur analysis. The present work is a continuation of [2], and deals with various aspects of Schur analysis in the case of slice hyperholomorphic functions. To review the classical case, and to present the outline of the paper, we first recall a definition: A signature matrix is a matrix J (say with complex entries; in the sequel quaternionic entries will be allowed) which is both self-adjoint and unitary. We denote by $\operatorname{sq}_{-J} I$ the multiplicity (possibly equal to 0) of the eigenvalue -1. Let now J_1 and J_2 be two signature matrices, belonging to $\mathbb{C}^{N\times N}$ and $\mathbb{C}^{M\times M}$ respectively, and assume that

$$\operatorname{sq}_{-}J_{1} = \operatorname{sq}_{-}J_{2}.$$

Functions Θ which are $\mathbb{C}^{M\times N}$ -valued and meromorphic in \mathbb{D} , and such that the kernel

(1.1)
$$K_{\Theta}(z, w) = \frac{J_2 - \Theta(z)J_1\Theta(w)^*}{1 - zw^*}$$

has a finite number of negative squares in \mathbb{D} are called generalized Schur functions, and have been studied by Krein and Langer in a long series of papers; see for instance [37, 38, 40, 39, 41]. These authors consider also the case of operator-valued functions and other classes, in particular, kernels of the form

(1.2)
$$k_{\varphi}(z,w) = \frac{\varphi(z)J + J\varphi(w)^*}{1 - zw^*},$$

where φ is $\mathbb{C}^{N\times N}$ valued and analytic in a neighborhood of the origin, and $J\in\mathbb{C}^{N\times N}$ is a signature matrix, and the counterparts of these kernels when the open unit disk is replaced by the open upper half-plane. Meromorphic functions Θ for which the kernel (1.1) has a finite number of negative squares are called generalized Schur functions, and meromorphic functions Θ for which the kernel (1.2) has a finite number of negative squares are called generalized Carathéodory functions. Associated problems (such as realization and interpolation questions) have been studied extensively.

As mentioned above, a study of Schur analysis in the setting of slice hyperholomorphic functions has been initiated recently in [2], and it is the purpose of the present paper to continue this study. The paper [2] was set in the Hilbert spaces framework, and presented in particular the notions and properties of Schur multipliers, de Branges Rovnyak space, and coisometric realizations in the slice hyperholomorphic setting. In the first part of this work we also focus on the Hilbert space case, while in the second part we consider the case of indefinite inner product spaces.

To set the present work into perspective we recall that the theory of slice hyperholomorphic functions represents a novelty with respect to other theories of hyperholomorphic functions that can be defined in the quaternionic setting since it allows the definition the quaternionic functional calculus and its associated S-resolvent operator. The importance of the S-resolvent operator, in the context of this paper, is the definition of the quaternionic version of the operator $(I-zA)^{-1}$ that appears in the realization function $s(z) = D + zC(I-zA)^{-1}B$. It turns out that when A is a quaternionic matrix and p is a quaternion then $(I-pA)^{-1}$ has to be replaced by

$$(I - pA)^{-\star} = (I - \bar{p}A)(|p|^2A^2 - 2\operatorname{Re}(p)A + I)^{-1}$$

which is equal to $p^{-1}S_R^{-1}(p^{-1}, A)$ where $S_R^{-1}(p^{-1}, A)$ is the right S-resolvent operator associated to the quaternionic matrix A.

Slice hyperholomorphic functions have two main formulations according to the fact that the functions we consider are defined on quaternions and are quaternion-valued, in this case the functions are called slice regular, see [32, 15, 19] or the functions are defined on the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^{N+1} and have values in the Clifford Algebra \mathbb{R}_N and are also called slice monogenic functions, see [25, 26]. We also point out that there exists a non constant coefficients differential operator whose kernel contains slice hyperholomorphic functions defined on suitable domains, see [17].

Slice hyperholomorphicity has applications in operator theory: specifically, in the case of quaternions, it allows the definition of a quaternionic functional calculus, see e.g. [16, 18, 21]; while slice monogenic functions admit a functional calculus for *n*-tuples of operators, see [24, 20, 22]. The book [27] collects some of the main results on the theory of slice hyperholomorphic functions and the related functional calculi.

Finally we mention the paper [10, 11, 9], where Schur multipliers were introduced and studied in the quaternionic setting using the Cauchy-Kovalesvkaya product and series of Fueter polynomials, and the papers [33, 45, 44], which treat various aspects of a theory of linear systems in the quaternionic setting. Our approach is quite different from the methods used there.

The paper consists of nine sections besides the introduction, and its outline is as follows: In Sections 2 and 3 we review some basic definitions on slice hyperholomorphic functions. In Section 4 we discuss the notion of multipliers in the case of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces of slice hyperholomorphic functions. In Section 5 we discuss the Hardy space in the present setting, and introduce Blaschke products. Interpolation in the Hardy space is studied in Section 6. Sections 7-11 are in the setting of indefinite metric spaces. A number of facts on quaternionic Pointryagin spaces as well as a proof of a theorem of Shmulyan on relations are proved in Section 7. Negative squares are discussed in Section 8, while Section 9 introduces generalized Schur functions and discusses their realizations. We also consider in this section the finite dimensional case. Finally, we briefly discuss in Section 10 the case of generalized Carathéodory functions.

2. SLICE HYPERHOLOMORPHIC FUNCTIONS

In the literature there are several notions of quaternion valued hyperholomorphic functions. In this paper we consider a notion which includes power series in the quaternionic variable, the so-called slice regular or slice hyperholomorphic functions, see [27]. In order to introduce the class of slice hyperholomorphic functions, we fix some preliminary notations. By \mathbb{H} we denote the algebra of real quaternions $p = x_0 + ix_1 + jx_2 + kx_3$. A quaternion can also be written as p = Re(p) + Im(p) where $x_0 = \text{Re}(p)$ and $ix_1 + jx_2 + kx_3 = \text{Im}(p)$ but also as $q = \text{Re}(p) + I_p|\text{Im}(p)|$ where $I_p = \text{Im}(p)/|\text{Im}(p)|$, as long as p is non real. The element I belongs to the 2-sphere

$$\mathbb{S} = \{ p = x_1 i + x_2 j + x_3 k : x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2 = 1 \}$$

of unit purely imaginary quaternions.

Definition 2.1. Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{H}$ be an open set and let $f: \Omega \to \mathbb{H}$ be a real differentiable function. Let $I \in \mathbb{S}$ and let f_I be the restriction of f to the complex plane $\mathbb{C}_I := \mathbb{R} + I\mathbb{R}$ passing through 1 and I and denote by x + Iy an element in \mathbb{C}_I .

(1) We say that f is a left slice regular function (or slice regular or slice hyperholomorphic) if, for every $I \in \mathbb{S}$, we have:

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + I \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \right) f_I(x + Iy) = 0.$$

(2) We say that f is right slice regular function (or right slice hyperholomorphic) if, for every $I \in \mathbb{S}$, we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} f_I(x + Iy) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y} f_I(x + Iy) I \right) = 0.$$

Definition 2.2. The set of all elements of the form Re(p) + J|Im(p)| when J varies in \mathbb{S} is denoted by [p] and is called the 2-sphere defined by p.

The most important feature of slice hyperholomorphic functions is that, on a suitable class of open sets described below, they can be reconstructed by knowing their values on a complex plane \mathbb{C}_I by the so-called Representation Formula.

Definition 2.3. Let Ω be a domain in \mathbb{H} . We say that Ω is a slice domain (s-domain for short) if $\Omega \cap \mathbb{R}$ is non empty and if $\Omega \cap \mathbb{C}_I$ is a domain in \mathbb{C}_I for all $I \in \mathbb{S}$. We say that Ω is axially symmetric if, for all $p \in \Omega$, the 2-sphere [p] is contained in Ω .

Theorem 2.4 (Representation Formula). Let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{H}$ be an axially symmetric s-domain. Let f be a left slice regular function on $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{H}$. Then the following equality holds for all $p = x + I_p y \in \Omega$:

(2.3)
$$f(p) = f(x + I_p y) = \frac{1}{2} \left[f(z) + f(\overline{z}) \right] + \frac{1}{2} I_p I \left[f(\overline{z}) - f(z) \right],$$

where z := x + Iy, $\overline{z} := x - Iy \in \Omega \cap \mathbb{C}_I$. Let f be a right slice regular function on $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{H}$. Then the following equality holds for all $p = x + I_p y \in \Omega$:

(2.4)
$$f(x+I_p y) = \frac{1}{2} \left[f(z) + f(\overline{z}) \right] + \frac{1}{2} \left[f(\overline{z}) - f(z) \right] II_p.$$

The Representation Formula allows to extend any function $f: \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{C}_I \to \mathbb{H}$ defined on an axially symmetric s-domain Ω and in the kernel of the corresponding Cauchy-Riemann operator to a function $f: \widetilde{\Omega} \subseteq \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$ slice hyperholomorphic where $\widetilde{\Omega}$ is the smallest axially symmetric open set in \mathbb{H} containing Ω . Using the above notations, the extension is obtained by means of the *extension operator*

$$(2.5) \quad \operatorname{ext}(f)(p) := \frac{1}{2} \Big[f(z) + f(\overline{z}) \Big] + \frac{1}{2} I_p I \Big[f(\overline{z}) - f(z) \Big], \quad z, \overline{z} \in \Omega \cap \mathbb{C}_I, \ p \in \widetilde{\Omega}.$$

For example, in the case of the kernel associated to the Hardy space, the extension operator applied to the function $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} z^n \bar{w}^n$ gives (see Proposition 5.3 in [2]):

Proposition 2.5. Let p and q be quaternionic variables. The sum of the series $\sum_{n=0}^{+\infty} p^n \bar{q}^n$ is the function k(p,q) given by

$$(2.6) k(p,q) = (1 - 2\operatorname{Re}(q)p + |q|^2p^2)^{-1}(1 - pq) = (1 - \bar{p}\bar{q})(1 - 2\operatorname{Re}(p)\bar{q} + |p|^2\bar{q}^2)^{-1}.$$

The kernel k(p,q) is defined for all p outside the 2-sphere defined by $[q^{-1}]$ (or, equivalently, for all q outside the 2-sphere $[p^{-1}]$. Moreover:

- a) k(p,q) is slice hyperholomorphic in p and right slice hyperholomorphic in \bar{q} ;
- b) $\overline{k(p,q)} = k(q,p)$.

The function k(p,q) in the preceding proposition is positive definite, and is the reproducing kernel of the slice hyperholomorphic counterpart of the Hardy space $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ of functions analytic in the open unit ball \mathbb{B} , see [2] and Section 5 below.

Remark 2.6. The two possible expressions for k(p,q) given in (2.6) correspond to the left slice regular reciprocal of $1 - p\bar{q}$ in the variable p and to the right slice regular reciprocal in the variable \bar{q} , (see the discussion in [2, Proposition 5.3]) and these two reciprocals coincide. Thus, in the sequel, we will often write $(1 - p\bar{q})^{-\star}$ instead of k(p,q).

Remark 2.7. Note that whenever a function k(p,q) is slice hyperholomorphic in p and is Hermitian, then k(p,q) is right slice hyperholomorphic in \bar{q} .

3. SLICE HYPERHOLOMORPHIC MULTIPLICATION

We recall that, given two left slice hyperholomorphic functions f, g, it is possible to introduce a binary operation called the \star -product, such that $f \star g$ is a slice hyperholomorphic function. Similarly, given two right slice hyperholomorphic functions, we can define their \star -product. When considering in same formula both the products, it may be useful to distinguish between them and in this case we will write \star_l or \star_r according to the fact that we are using the left or the right slice regular product. When there is no subscript, we will mean that we are considering the left \star -product.

Let $f, g: \Omega \subseteq \mathbb{H}$ be slice regular functions such that their restrictions to the complex plane \mathbb{C}_I can be written as $f_I(z) = F(z) + G(z)J$, $g_I(z) = H(z) + L(z)J$ where $J \in \mathbb{S}$, $J \perp I$. The functions F, G, H, L are holomorphic functions of the variable $z \in \Omega \cap \mathbb{C}_I$ and they exist by the splitting lemma, see [27], p. 117. The \star_I -product of f and gis defined as the unique left slice hyperholomorphic function whose restriction to the complex plane \mathbb{C}_I is given by (3.1)

$$(F(z)+G(z)J)\star_l(H(z)+L(z)J):=(F(z)H(z)-G(z)\overline{L(\bar{z})})+(G(z)\overline{H(\bar{z})}+F(z)L(z))J.$$

Pointwise multiplication and slice multiplication are different, but they can be related as in the following result, [27, Proposition 4.3.22]:

Proposition 3.1. Let $U \subseteq \mathbb{H}$ be an axially symmetric s-domain, $f, g: U \to \mathbb{H}$ be slice hyperholomorphic functions and let us assume that $f(p) \neq 0$. Then

(3.2)
$$(f \star g)(p) = f(p)g(f(p)^{-1}pf(p)),$$

for all $p \in U$.

Remark 3.2. The transformation $p \to f(p)^{-1}pf(p)$ is clearly a rotation in \mathbb{H} , since $|p| = |f(p)^{-1}pf(p)|$ and allows to rewrite the \star -product as a pointwise product. Note also that if $f \star q(p) = 0$ then either f(p) = 0 or $q(f(p)^{-1}pf(p)) = 0$.

As a consequence of Proposition 3.1 one has:

Corollary 3.3. If $\lim_{r\to 1} |f(re^{I\theta})| = 1$, for all I fixed in S, then

$$\lim_{r \to 1} |f \star g(re^{I\theta})| = |g(e^{I'\theta})|,$$

where $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$, and $I' \in \mathbb{S}$ depends on θ and f.

Proof. Set $b = f(re^{I\theta})$. We can write $b = Re^{J\alpha}$ for suitable R, J, α and, by hypothesis, we can assume that $b \neq 0$ when $r \to 1$, thus b^{-1} exists. We have

$$b^{-1}re^{I\theta}b = e^{-J\alpha}(re^{I\theta})e^{J\alpha} = r(\cos\alpha - J\sin\alpha)(\cos\theta + I\sin\theta)(\cos\alpha + J\sin\alpha)$$

$$= r(\cos\theta + I\cos^2\alpha\sin\theta - JI\cos\alpha\sin\alpha\sin\theta + IJ\cos\alpha\sin\alpha\sin\theta - JIJ\sin^2\alpha\sin\theta)$$

$$= r(\cos\theta + \cos\alpha e^{-J\alpha}I\sin\theta + e^{-J\alpha}IJ\sin\alpha\sin\theta)$$

$$= r(\cos\theta + e^{-J\alpha}Ie^{J\alpha}\sin\theta) = r(\cos\theta + I'\sin\theta),$$

where $I' = e^{-J\alpha}Ie^{J\alpha}$. Then, the result immediately follows from the equalities:

$$\lim_{r \to 1} |f \star g(re^{I\theta})| = \lim_{r \to 1} |f(re^{I\theta})g(b^{-1}re^{I\theta}b)| = \lim_{r \to 1} |g(re^{I'\theta})| = |g(e^{I'\theta})|.$$

Given a left slice regular function f it is possible to construct its slice regular reciprocal, which is denoted by $f^{-\star}$. The general construction can be found in [27]. In this paper we will be in need of the reciprocal of a polynomial or a power series with center at the origin that can be described in the easier way illustrated below.

Definition 3.4. Given $f(p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n a_n$, let us set

$$f^{c}(p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n} \bar{a}_{n}, \qquad f^{s}(p) = (f^{c} \star f)(p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n} c_{n}, \quad c_{n} = \sum_{r=0}^{n} a_{r} \bar{a}_{n-r},$$

where the series converge. The left slice hyperholomorphic reciprocal of f is then defined as

$$f^{-\star} := (f^s)^{-1} f^c.$$

In an analogous way one can define the right slice hyperholomorphic reciprocal $f^{-\star} := f^c(f^s)^{-1}$, of a right slice regular function $f(q) = \sum_n a_n q^n$. Note that the series f^s has real coefficients.

Remark 3.5. Let Ω be an axially symmetric open set. We recall that if f is left slice hyperholomorphic in $q \in \Omega$ then $\overline{f(q)}$ is right slice hyperholomorphic in \overline{q} . This fact follows immediately from $(\partial_x + I\partial_y)f_I(x + Iy) = 0$, since by conjugation we get $\overline{f_I(x + Iy)}(\partial_x - I\partial_y) = 0$ for all $I \in \mathbb{S}$.

Lemma 3.6. Let Ω be an axially symmetric s-domain and let $f, g : \Omega \to \mathbb{H}$ be two left slice hyperholomorphic functions. Then

$$\overline{f \star_l g} = \overline{g} \star_r \overline{f},$$

where \star_l , \star_r are the left and right \star -products with respect to q and \bar{q} , respectively.

Proof. Let $f_I(z) = F(z) + G(z)J$, $g_I(z) = H(z) + L(z)J$ be the restrictions of f and g to the complex plane \mathbb{C}_I , respectively. The functions F, G, H, L are holomorphic functions of the variable $z \in \Omega \cap \mathbb{C}_I$ which exist by the splitting lemma and J is an element in the sphere \mathbb{S} orthogonal to I. The \star_r -product of two right slice hyperholomorphic

functions \overline{g} and \overline{f} in the variable \overline{q} is defined as the unique right slice hyperholomorphic function whose restriction to a complex plane \mathbb{C}_I is given by

$$(\overline{H(z)} - J \overline{L(z)}) \star_r (\overline{F(z)} - J \overline{G(z)}) := (\overline{H(z)} \overline{F(z)} - L(\overline{z}) \overline{G(z)}) - J(\overline{L(z)} \overline{F(z)} + H(\overline{z}) \overline{G(z)}).$$

Thus, comparing with (3.1), it is clear that

$$\overline{f_I \star_l g_I} = \overline{g_I} \star_r \overline{f_I},$$

and the statement follows by taking the unique right slice hyperholomorphic extension.

Remark 3.7. For the sake of completeness, we adapt some of the previous definitions in the case we consider matrix valued functions. We will say that a real differentiable function $f:\Omega\subseteq\mathbb{H}\to\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$ is left (resp. right) slice hyperholomorphic if and only if for any linear and continuous functional Λ acting on $\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$, the function Λf is left (resp. right) slice hyperholomorphic in Ω . If, in particular, $\Omega=\mathbb{B}$, then it can be shown with standard techniques that f is left slice hyperholomorphic if and only if $f(p)=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}p^{n}A_{n}$, where $A_{n}\in\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$ and the series converges in \mathbb{B} . Let $f:\mathbb{B}\to\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$, $g:\mathbb{B}\to\mathbb{H}^{M\times L}$ be left slice hyperholomorphic and let $f(p)=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}p^{n}A_{n}$, $g(p)=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}p^{n}B_{n}$. The \star -product of f and g is defined as $f\star g:=\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}p^{n}C_{n}$ where $C_{n}=\sum_{n=0}^{n}A_{n}B_{n-r}$. Analogous definitions can be given in the case we consider right slice hyperholomorphic functions.

Remark 3.8. When considering the function $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n A^n$ where $A \in \mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ and |p| < 1/||A||, or, more in general, A is a bounded right linear quaternionic operator from a quaternionic Hilbert space to itself, then $(I - pA)^{-*}$ can be constructed using the functional calculus (see [2, Proposition 2.16]): it is sufficient to construct the right slice regular inverse of 1 - pq with respect to q and then substitute q by the operator A. Note that we write $(I - pA)^{-*}$ using the symbol \star instead of \star_r for simplicity and the discussion in Remark 2.6 justifies this abuse of notation.

4. Multipliers in reproducing Kernel Hilbert spaces

In this section we study the multiplication operators and their adjoints, we show that positivity implies the slice hyperholomorphicity for a class of functions and, finally, we prove that if a kernel is positive and slice hyperholomorphic then the corresponding reproducing kernel Hilbert space consists of slice hyperholomorphic functions. Let us begin by recalling the following definition, see [8]:

Definition 4.1. A quaternionic Hilbert space \mathscr{H} of \mathbb{H}^N -valued functions defined on an open set $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{H}$ is called a reproducing kernel quaternionic Hilbert space if there exists a $\mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ -valued function defined on $\Omega \times \Omega$ such that:

- (1) For every $q \in \Omega$ and $a \in \mathbb{H}^N$ the function $p \mapsto K(p,q)a$ belongs to \mathscr{H} .
- (2) For every $f \in \mathcal{H}$, $q \in \Omega$ and $a \in \mathbb{H}^N$

$$\langle f, K(\cdot, q)a \rangle_{\mathscr{H}} = a^* f(q).$$

The function K(p,q) is called the reproducing kernel of the space. As observed in [8], Definition 4.1, one may ask the weaker requirement that \mathscr{H} is a quaternionic pre-Hilbert space. However, the next result proven in [8], guarantees that a reproducing kernel quaternionic pre-Hilbert space has a unique completion as a reproducing kernel quaternionic Hilbert space, which will be denoted by $\mathscr{H}(K)$.

Theorem 4.2. Given an $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ -valued function K(p,q) positive on a set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{H}$, there exists a uniquely defined reproducing kernel quaternionic Hilbert space of \mathbb{H}^N -valued function defined on Ω and with reproducing kernel K(p,q).

Let us recall that $\mathscr{H}(K)$ is the completion of the linear span $\mathscr{H}(K)$ of functions of the form

$$(4.1) p \mapsto K(p,q)a, q \in \Omega, \ a \in \mathbb{H}^N,$$

with the inner product

$$\langle K(\cdot,q)a,K(\cdot,s)b\rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)}^{\circ} := b^*K(s,q)a.$$

Proposition 4.3. Let ϕ be a slice hyperholomorphic function defined on an axially symmetric s-domain Ω and with values in $\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$, and let $K_1(p,q)$ and $K_2(p,q)$ be positive definite kernels in Ω , respectively $\mathbb{H}^{M\times M}$ - and $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ -valued, and slice hyperholomorphic in the variable p. Moreover,

(1) Assume that the slice multiplication operator

$$M_{\phi}: \mathcal{H}(K_1) \to \mathcal{H}(K_2)$$

given by

$$M_{\phi} : f \mapsto \phi \star f$$

is continuous. Then, the adjoint operator is given by the formula:

$$M_{\phi}^*(K_2(\cdot,q)d) = K_1(\cdot,q) \star_r \phi^*(q)d.$$

(2) The multiplication operator M_{ϕ} is bounded and with norm less or equal to k if and only if the function

(4.3)
$$K_2(p,q) - \frac{1}{k^2} \phi(p) \star_l K_1(p,q) \star_r \phi(q)^*$$

is positive on Ω .

Proof. We compute the adjoint of the multiplication operator $M_{\phi}: \mathcal{H}(K_1) \to \mathcal{H}(K_2)$:

$$c^*(M_\phi^*(K_2(\cdot,q)d)(p) = \langle M_\phi^*(K_2(\cdot,q)d), K_1(\cdot,p)c \rangle_{\mathcal{H}(K_1)}$$

$$= \langle K_2(\cdot,q)d, \phi \star_l K_1(\cdot,p)c \rangle_{\mathcal{H}(K_2)}$$

$$= \langle \phi \star_l K_1(\cdot,p)c, K_2(\cdot,q)d \rangle_{\mathcal{H}(K_2)}^*$$

$$= (d^*(\phi(q) \star_l K_1(q,p))c)^*$$

$$= c^*(\phi(q) \star_l K_1(q,p))^*d.$$

Now observe that by Lemma 3.6 we have $(\phi(q) \star_l K_1(q,p))^* = K_1(p,q) \star_r \phi^*(q)$ and so

$$M_{\phi}^*(K_2(\cdot,q)d) = K_1(\cdot,q) \star_r \phi^*(q)d.$$

The positivity of (4.3) follows from the positivity of the operator $k^2 - M_{\phi} M_{\phi}^*$. Conversely, if (4.3) is positive, the standard argument shows that $||M_{\phi}|| \leq k$.

Example 4.4. Let us consider the case in which the kernel K is of the form

$$K(p,q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n \overline{q}^n \alpha_n, \quad \alpha_n \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Then we have

$$\phi(p) \star_l K(p,q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n \phi(p) \overline{q}^n \alpha_n$$

and

$$(\phi(p) \star_l K(p,q))^* = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q^n \phi(p)^* \overline{p}^n \alpha_n,$$

from which we obtain

$$\phi(q) \star_l (\phi(p) \star_l K(p,q))^* = \phi(q) \star_l \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} q^n \phi(p)^* \overline{p}^n \alpha_n = \phi(q) \star_l K(q,p) \star_r \phi(p)^*.$$

Recall that we defined in [2] a Schur function to be a function S with values in $\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$, slice hyperholomorphic in \mathbb{B} and such that the kernel

(4.4)
$$k_S(p,q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n (I_N - S(p)S(q)^*) \overline{q}^n = (I_N - S(p)S(q)^*) \star (1 - p\overline{q})^{-\star}$$

is positive on \mathbb{B} . We will show in Theorem 4.6 below that the converse, i.e. that positivity forces hyperholomorphicity, is true for a subclass of slice hyperholomorphic functions. This subclass is denoted by \mathcal{N} and corresponds to those functions f such that $f: \mathbb{B} \cap \mathbb{C}_I \to \mathbb{C}_I$ for any $I \in \mathbb{S}$. For these functions the pointwise multiplication of f with a monomial of the form p^n is well defined and commutative since f takes the complex plane \mathbb{C}_{I_p} to itself and thus it behaves, on each plane, like a complex valued function.

We will be in need of the following preliminary result, see [8, Proposition 9.3].

Proposition 4.5. Let K_1 and K_2 be two positive functions on a set Ω with values in $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ and $\mathbb{H}^{M\times M}$, respectively. Let ϕ be a function defined on Ω and with values in $\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$. The pointwise multiplication operator by ϕ is bounded and with norm less or equal to k if and only if the function

(4.5)
$$K_2(p,q) - \frac{1}{k^2}\phi(p)K_1(p,q)\phi(q)^*$$

is positive on Ω .

Theorem 4.6. Let $S: \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{H}^{N \times M}$ be a function such that $S: \mathbb{B} \cap \mathbb{C}_I \to \mathbb{C}_I^{N \times M}$ for every $I \in \mathbb{S}$. The following are equivalent:

- (1) The function $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n (I_N S(p)S(q)^*) \bar{q}^n$ is positive on \mathbb{B} .
- (2) The operator M_S is a contraction from $\mathbf{H}_2^M(\mathbb{B})$ to $\mathbf{H}_2^N(\mathbb{B})$.
- (3) S is a Schur function belonging to $\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{B})$.

Proof. The equivalence between (1) and (2) follows as in [1] Theorem 2.6.3, and its proof is based on Proposition 4.5. Indeed, let us set in (4.5)

$$K_1(p,q) = I_M(1 - p\bar{q})^{-\star}, \qquad K_2(p,q) = I_N(1 - p\bar{q})^{-\star}.$$

We have:

$$I_N(1-p\bar{q})^{-\star} - \frac{1}{k^2}S(p)(1-p\bar{q})^{-\star}S(q)^*$$

(4.6)
$$= I_N \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n \bar{q}^n - \frac{1}{k^2} S(p) (\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n \bar{q}^n) S(q)^*;$$

now observe that, by hypothesis, S(p) commutes with p^n since S takes the complex plane \mathbb{C}_{I_p} to itself; similarly, $S(q)^*$ commutes with \bar{q}^n . So we obtain that (4.6) is equal to:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n (I_N - \frac{1}{k^2} S(p) S(q)^*) \bar{q}^n.$$

Thus, if (1) holds then by Proposition 4.5 we conclude that M_S is a contraction from $\mathbf{H}_2^M(\mathbb{B})$ to $\mathbf{H}_2^N(\mathbb{B})$. Conversely, if (2) holds, then again Proposition 4.5 allows to conclude that (1) holds.

The implication $(3)\Rightarrow(2)$ follows from the fact that S is a Schur function. We show that (2) implies (3). The function S is slice hyperholomorphic since $Sc \in \mathbf{H}_2^N(\mathbb{B})$ for any $c \in \mathbb{H}^M$. Observe that the function S is contractive since M_S^* acts as

$$M_S^* \Big((1 - p\overline{q})^{-*} d \Big) = (1 - p\overline{q})^{-*} S(q)^* d$$

and it is a contraction.

Definition 4.7. A subset Ω of \mathbb{B} is called a set of uniqueness if every slice hyperholomorphic function on \mathbb{B} which vanishes on Ω is identically zero on \mathbb{B} .

Example 4.8. Any open subset Ω of $\mathbb{B} \cap \mathbb{C}_I$ is a set of uniqueness. More in general, any subset Ω of $\mathbb{B} \cap \mathbb{C}_I$ for $I \in \mathbb{S}$ having an accumulation point in \mathbb{C}_I is a set of uniqueness.

Theorem 4.9. Let Ω be a set of uniqueness in \mathbb{B} and let S be a function defined on Ω such that $S: \Omega \cap \mathbb{C}_I \to \mathbb{C}_I^{N \times M}$ for every $I \in \mathbb{S}$. Then S can be extended slice hyperholomorphically to a Schur function in $\mathcal{N}(\mathbb{B})$ if and only if the kernel

(4.7)
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n} (I_{N} - S(p)S(q)^{*}) \bar{q}^{n}$$

is positive on Ω .

Proof. If S can be extended hyperholomorphically to a Schur function, then the kernel (4.7) is positive definite on Ω . We prove the converse. Define the right linear quaternionic operator T as

$$T((1-p\overline{q})^{-\star}d) = (1-p\overline{q})^{-\star}S(q)^*d$$

for $q \in \Omega$ and reason as in the proof of Theorem 4.6. By assumption the kernel $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n (I_N - S(p)S(q)^*) \bar{q}^n$ is positive thus T is well defined and contractive. Its domain is dense since Ω is a set of uniqueness. So T extends to a contraction from \mathbf{H}_2^M to \mathbf{H}_2^N . Its adjoint is a contraction and for any $q \in \Omega$ and $F \in \mathbf{H}_2^N$ we have

$$\langle T^*F, (1 - p\overline{q})^{-*}d \rangle = \langle F, T((1 - p\overline{q})^{-*}d) \rangle$$
$$= \langle F, (1 - p\overline{q})^{-*}S(q)^*d \rangle$$
$$= d^*S(q)F(q).$$

Since we obtained a function equal to S(q)F(q) on Ω , the choice F=1 shows that $S=T^*1$ is the restriction to Ω of a Schur function.

To conclude this section we show that if a kernel K(p,q) is positive and slice hyperholomorphic in p, then its corresponding reproducing kernel Hilbert space consists of slice hyperholomorphic functions.

Theorem 4.10. Given an $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ -valued function K(p,q) on an open set $\Omega\subset\mathbb{H}$ let $\mathscr{H}(K)$ be the associated reproducing kernel quaternionic Hilbert space. Assume that for all $q\in\Omega$ the function $p\mapsto K(p,q)$ is slice hyperholomorphic. Then the entries of the elements of $\mathscr{H}(K)$ are also slice hyperholomorphic.

Proof. It is enough to consider the case of \mathbb{H} -valued function because the matrix case works similarly. For any $f \in \mathcal{H}(K)$, $p, q \in \Omega$ and $\varepsilon \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ sufficiently small, we have

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon}(K(p,q+\varepsilon)-K(p,q)) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\overline{(K(q+\varepsilon,p)-K(q,p))}.$$

Let $(u + Iv, x + Iy) \in \mathbb{C}_I \times \mathbb{C}_I$. We have that

$$\frac{\partial K(p,q)}{\partial x} = \frac{\partial \overline{K(q,p)}}{\partial u}.$$

In an analogous way, we have:

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon}(K(p,q+I\varepsilon)-K(p,q)) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\overline{(K(q+I\varepsilon,p)-K(q,p))},$$

from which we deduce

$$\frac{\partial K(p,q)}{\partial y} = \frac{\partial \overline{K(q,p)}}{\partial v}.$$

The two families

$$\left\{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}(K(p,q+\varepsilon)-K(p,q))\right\}_{\varepsilon\in\mathbb{R}\backslash\{0\}}, \qquad \left\{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}(K(p,q+I\varepsilon)-K(p,q))\right\}_{\varepsilon\in\mathbb{R}\backslash\{0\}},$$

are uniformly bounded in the norm and therefore have weakly convergent subsequences which converge to $\frac{\partial K(p,q)}{\partial x}$ and $\frac{\partial K(p,q)}{\partial y}$, respectively. Moreover we have

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon}(f(p+\varepsilon)-f(p)) = \langle f(\cdot), \frac{1}{\varepsilon}(K(\cdot,p+\varepsilon)-K(\cdot,p)) \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon}(f(p+I\varepsilon)-f(p)) = \langle f(\cdot), \frac{1}{\varepsilon}(K(\cdot,p+I\varepsilon)-K(\cdot,p)) \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)}.$$

Thus we can write

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}(p) = \langle f(\cdot), \frac{\partial K(\cdot, p)}{\partial x} \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)},$$

and

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial v}(p) = \langle f(\cdot), \frac{\partial K(\cdot, p)}{\partial y} \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)}.$$

To show that the function f is slice hyperholomorphic, we consider its restriction to any complex plane \mathbb{C}_I and we show that it is in the kernel of the corresponding Cauchy-Riemann operator:

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial u} + I \frac{\partial f}{\partial v} = \langle f, \frac{\partial K(\cdot, q)}{\partial x} \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)} + I \langle f(\cdot), \frac{\partial K(\cdot, q)}{\partial y} \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)}$$

$$= \langle f, \frac{\partial K(\cdot, q)}{\partial x} - \frac{\partial K(\cdot, q)}{\partial y} I \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)}$$

$$= \langle f, \frac{\partial K(q, \cdot)}{\partial u} + I \frac{\partial K(q, \cdot)}{\partial v} \rangle_{\mathscr{H}(K)} = 0$$

since the kernel K(q, p) is slice hyperholomorphic in the first variable q.

5. Blaschke products

The space $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ was introduced in [2] as the space of power series $f(p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n f_n$, where the coefficients $f_n \in \mathbb{H}$ and are such that

(5.1)
$$||f||_{\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})} \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \sqrt{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |f_n|^2} < \infty.$$

 $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ endowed with the inner product

$$[f,g]_2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \overline{g_n} f_n$$
, where $g(p) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n g_n$

is the right quaternionic reproducing kernel Hilbert space with reproducing kernel

$$k(p,q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^n \bar{q}^n = (1 - p\bar{q})^{-\star}.$$

The norm (5.1) admits another expression.

Theorem 5.1. The norm in $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ can be written as

$$\sup_{0 < r < 1, \ I \in \mathbb{S}} \left[\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{I\theta})|^2 \, d\theta \right]^{1/2} = \sup_{0 < r < 1} \left[\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} |f(re^{I\theta})|^2 \, d\theta \right]^{1/2}.$$

Proof. When one writes the power series expansion for f with center at 0, the equality is clear by the Parseval identity. Thus the norm can be defined as in the classical complex case by computing the integral on a chosen complex plane.

Let us prove some results associated to the Blaschke factors in the slice hyperholomorphic setting.

Definition 5.2. Let $a \in \mathbb{H}$, |a| < 1. The function

(5.2)
$$B_a(p) = (1 - p\bar{a})^{-\star} \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|}$$

is called Blaschke factor at a.

Lemma 5.3. Let $a \in \mathbb{B}$. Then, $B_a(p)$ is a slice hyperholomorphic function in \mathbb{B} . Furthermore it holds that

$$(5.3) B_a(\overline{a})\overline{a} = \overline{a}B_a(\overline{a}).$$

Proof. Indeed $B_a(p)$ is slice hyperholomorphic by its definition, moreover we have

$$B_{a}(p) = \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n} \overline{a}^{n}\right) \star (a-p) \frac{\overline{a}}{|a|}$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(p^{n} \overline{a}^{n} a - p^{n+1} \overline{a}^{n}\right) \frac{\overline{a}}{|a|}$$

$$= |a| + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n+1} \overline{a}^{n+1} (|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}).$$

Finally, (5.3) is a direct consequence of the last equality.

Remark 5.4. Set $\lambda(p) = 1 - p\bar{a}$. Then

$$(1 - p\bar{a})^{-\star} = (\lambda^c(p) \star \lambda(p))^{-1} \lambda^c(p).$$

Applying formula (3.2) to the products $\lambda^c(p) \star \lambda(p)$ and $\lambda^c(p) \star (a-p)$, we can rewrite (5.2) as

(5.5)
$$B_{a}(p) = (\lambda^{c}(p) \star \lambda(p))^{-1} \lambda^{c}(p) \star (a-p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} = (\lambda^{c}(p)\lambda(\tilde{p}))^{-1} \lambda^{c}(p) (a-\tilde{p}) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|}$$
$$= \lambda(\tilde{p})^{-1} (a-\tilde{p}) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} = (1-\tilde{p}\bar{a})^{-1} (a-\tilde{p}) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|},$$

where $\tilde{p} = \lambda^c(p)^{-1}p\lambda^c(p)$. Formula (5.5) represents the Blaschke factor $B_a(p)$ in terms of pointwise multiplication only.

Theorem 5.5. Let $a \in \mathbb{H}$, |a| < 1. The Blaschke factor $B_a(q)$ has the following properties:

- (1) it takes the unit ball \mathbb{B} to itself;
- (2) it takes the boundary of the unit ball to itself;
- (3) it has a unique zero for p = a.

Proof. By Remark 5.4 we write $B_a(p) = (1 - \tilde{p}\bar{a})^{-1}(a - \tilde{p})\frac{\bar{a}}{|a|}$. Let us show that $|p| = |\tilde{p}| < 1$ implies $|B_a(p)|^2 < 1$. The latter inequality is equivalent to

$$|a - \tilde{p}|^2 < |1 - \tilde{p}\bar{a}|^2$$

which is also equivalent to

$$(5.6) |a|^2 + |p|^2 < 1 + |a|^2 |p|^2.$$

The inequality (5.6) can be written as $(|p|^2-1)(1-|a|^2)<0$ and it holds when |p|<1. When |p|=1 we set $p=e^{I\theta}$, so that $\tilde{p}=e^{I'\theta}$ by the proof of Corollary 3.3; we have

$$|B_a(e^{I\theta})| = |1 - e^{I'\theta}\bar{a}|^{-1}|a - e^{I'\theta}|\frac{|\bar{a}|}{|a|} = |e^{-I'\theta} - \bar{a}|^{-1}|a - e^{I'\theta}| = 1.$$

Finally, from (5.5) it follows that $B_a(p)$ has only one zero that comes from the factor $a - \tilde{p}$. Moreover $B_a(a) = (1 - \tilde{a}\bar{a})^{-1}(a - \tilde{a})\frac{\bar{a}}{|a|}$ where $\tilde{a} = (1 - a^2)^{-1}a(1 - a^2) = a$ and thus $B_a(a) = 0$.

Theorem 5.6. Let $\{a_j\} \subset \mathbb{B}$, $j = 1, 2, \ldots$ be a sequence of nonzero quaternions such that $[a_i] \neq [a_j]$ if $i \neq j$ and assume that $\sum_{j>1} (1-|a_j|) < \infty$. Then the function

(5.7)
$$B(p) := \prod_{j\geq 1}^{\star} (1 - p\bar{a}_j)^{-\star} \star (a_j - p) \frac{\bar{a}_j}{|a_j|},$$

where Π^* denotes the *-product, converges uniformly on the compact subsets of \mathbb{B} .

Proof. Let $\alpha_j(p) := B_{a_j}(p) - 1$. Using Remark 5.4 we have the chain of equalities:

$$\alpha_{j}(p) = B_{a_{j}}(p) - 1 = (1 - \tilde{p}\bar{a}_{j})^{-1}(a_{j} - \tilde{p})\frac{\bar{a}_{j}}{|a_{j}|} - 1$$

$$= (1 - \tilde{p}\bar{a}_{j})^{-1} \left[(a_{j} - \tilde{p})\frac{\bar{a}_{j}}{|a_{j}|} - (1 - \tilde{p}\bar{a}_{j}) \right]$$

$$= (1 - \tilde{p}\bar{a}_{j})^{-1} \left[(|a_{j}| - 1) \left(1 + \tilde{p}\frac{\bar{a}_{j}}{|a_{j}|} \right) \right].$$

Thus, if |p| < 1 and recalling that $|\tilde{p}| = |p|$, we have

$$|\alpha_i(p)| \le 2(1-|p|)^{-1}(1-|a_i|)$$

and since $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (1-|a_j|) < \infty$ then $\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} |\alpha_j(p)|$ converges in $\mathbb B$ and the statement follows.

Definition 5.7. The function B(p) defined in (5.7) is called Blaschke product.

Remark 5.8. In the complex case the sequence of complex numbers $\{a_j\}$ turns out to be the sequence of zeroes of the Blaschke product. In the quaternionic case the situation is different and we shall discuss it in the next results. In order to illustrate the differences with the complex case, let us consider the simpler case in which we have a polynomial

$$P(p) = (p - a_1) \star \ldots \star (p - a_n)$$

and assume that $[a_i] \neq [a_j]$ for all i, j = 1, ..., n. Then, it can be verified that $p = a_1$ is a zero for the polynomial P(p) while the other zeroes belong to the spheres $[a_j]$ defined by a_j for j = 2, ..., n. Note that, in the case in which all the elements a_j belong to a same sphere for all j = 1, ..., n, then the only zero of the polynomial is a_1 , see [43, Lemma 2.2.1] and it has multiplicity n. Moreover, whenever a polynomial and, more in general, a slice hyperholomorphic function f has two zeroes belonging to a same 2-sphere, then all the elements of the sphere are zeroes for f. Thus the zeroes of a slice hyperholomorphic function are either isolated points or isolated spheres, see [27].

Assume that the slice hyperholomorphic function f has zero set

$$Z = \{a_1, a_2, \ldots\} \cup \{[c_1], [c_2], \ldots\}.$$

Then it is possible to construct a suitable Blaschke product having Z_f as zero set. Let us begin with the case in which the zeros are isolated points. In the sequel, we will be in need of the following remark:

Remark 5.9. Direct computations show the following equality of polynomials:

$$(1-pa) \star (a-p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} = \left((a-p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} \right) \star (1-pa) = (a-p) \star (1-pa) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|}.$$

Proposition 5.10. Let $Z = \{a_1, a_2, \ldots\}$ be a sequence of elements in \mathbb{B} , $a_j \neq 0$ for all $j = 1, 2, \ldots$ such that $[a_i] \neq [a_j]$ if $i \neq j$ and assume that $\sum_{j \geq 1} (1 - |a_j|) < \infty$. Then there exists a Blaschke product B(p) having zero set at Z.

Proof. Let us prove the statement by induction. By hypothesis the zero set of the required Blaschke product consists of isolated points, all of them belonging to different spheres. If n = 1, we have already proved that $B_1(p) := B_{a_1}(p)$ has a_1 as its unique zero. Let us assume that the statement holds for a_1, \ldots, a_k , and so there exists a Blaschke product $B_k(p)$ vanishing at the given points and let us prove that we can construct a Blaschke product vanishing at $a_1, \ldots, a_k, a_{k+1}$. Observe that it is possible to choose an element a'_{k+1} belonging to the sphere $[a_{k+1}]$ such that

$$B_k(p) \star B_{a'_{k+1}}(p)$$

has zeros a_1, \ldots, a_{k+1} . In fact, consider the product

$$B_{k+1}(p) := B_k(p) \star (1 - p\bar{a}'_{k+1})^{-\star} \star (a'_{k+1} - p) \frac{\bar{a}'_{k+1}}{|a'_{k+1}|}$$

and rewrite it using Remark 5.9 in the form

$$B_{k+1}(p) := B_k(p) \star (a'_{k+1} - p) \star (1 - pa'_{k+1})(1 - 2\operatorname{Re}(\bar{a}'_{k+1})p + |\bar{a}'_{k+1}|^2 p^2)^{-1} \frac{\bar{a}'_{k+1}}{|a'_{k+1}|}.$$

We now observe that the zeros of $B_{k+1}(p)$ belonging to the ball \mathbb{B} come from the zeros of the product

$$\tilde{B}(p) := B_k(p) \star (a'_{k+1} - p).$$

Observe that

$$\tilde{B}(a_{k+1}) = B_k(a_{k+1})(a'_{k+1} - B_k(a_{k+1})^{-1}a_{k+1}B_k(a_{k+1}))$$

and in order that a_{k+1} is a zero of \tilde{B} , and so of B_{k+1} , it is sufficient to choose

$$a'_{k+1} = B_k(a_{k+1})^{-1}a_{k+1}B_k(a_{k+1}).$$

The convergence of the Blaschke product follows as in Theorem 5.6.

From now on, when we write $Z = \{(a, \mu)\}$ we mean that Z consists of the point a repeated μ times. Let us now prove the analog of Theorem 5.5 (3) in the case in which the point a has multiplicity μ .

Lemma 5.11. Let $Z = \{(a, \mu)\}$ with $a \in \mathbb{B}$ and $a \neq 0$. The Blaschke product

$$B(p) := \left((1 - p\bar{a})^{-\star} \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} \right)^{\star\mu} :=$$

$$= \underbrace{\left((1 - p\bar{a})^{-\star} \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} \dots (1 - p\bar{a})^{-\star} \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} \right)}_{\text{u times}}$$

has Z as zero set.

Proof. We have:

$$(1 - p\bar{a})^{-\star} \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} = (1 - 2\operatorname{Re}(a)p + p^2|a|^2)^{-1}(1 - pa) \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|}$$

thus, using the fact that $1 - 2\text{Re}(a)p + p^2|a|^2$ has real coefficients, we can write

$$B(p) = (1 - 2p \operatorname{Re}(a) + p^{2}|a|^{2})^{-\mu} \underbrace{((1 - pa) \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} \dots (1 - pa) \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|})}_{\text{μ times}}$$

and thanks to Remark 5.9 we obtain

$$B(p) = (1 - 2p\operatorname{Re}(a) + p^{2}|a|^{2})^{-\mu} \left((a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} \right)^{\mu} \star (1 - pa)^{\mu}.$$

Thus B(p) has, in \mathbb{B} , a unique zero at p=a of multiplicity μ . Note that the zero on the sphere [1/a] which, as it can be proven, coincides with 1/a has to be excluded since B(p) is not defined there, moreover $1/a \notin \mathbb{B}$.

Proposition 5.12. Let $Z = \{(a_1, \mu_1), (a_2, \mu_2), \ldots\}$ be a sequence of points $a_j \in \mathbb{B}$ with respective multiplicities $\mu_j \geq 1$, $a_j \neq 0$ for $j = 1, 2, \ldots$ Let a_j be such that $[a_i] \neq [a_j]$ if $i \neq j$ and $\sum_{j \geq 1} \mu_j (1 - |a_j|) < \infty$. Then there exists a Blaschke product of the form

$$B(p) = \prod_{j>1}^{\star} (B_{a'_j}(p))^{\star \mu_j},$$

having zero set at Z, where $a'_1 = a_1$ and $a'_j \in [a_j]$ are suitably chosen elements, $j = 2, 3, \ldots$

Proof. We prove the assertion by induction on the number of distinct zeros. If there is just one zero a_1 with multiplicity μ_1 , then the statement follows by Lemma 5.11. Let us assume that the statement holds in the case we have k different zeros a_i with respective multiplicities μ_i and let us prove that it holds for k+1 different zeros. Let $B_k(p)$ be the Blaschke product having zeros at $Z = \{(a_1, \mu_1), \ldots, (a_k, \mu_k)\}$ and let us consider

$$B_{k+1}(p) := B_k(p) \star (B_{a'_{k+1}}(p))^{\star \mu_k}$$

where a'_{k+1} is chosen such that $B_k(p) \star B_{a'_{k+1}}(p)$ has a zero at $p = a_{k+1}$. Then all the other zeros of B_{k+1} must belong to the sphere $[a_{k+1}]$. Moreover they must coincide with a_{k+1} otherwise the Blaschke product $(B_{a'_{k+1}}(p))^{\star \mu_k}$ vanishes at two different points on a same sphere, and thus it vanishes on the whole sphere. In particular, any two conjugate elements on the sphere are zeros of the product and so we would have:

$$B_a(p) \star B_{\bar{a}}(p) = (1 - p\bar{a})^{-\star} \star (a - p) \frac{\bar{a}}{|a|} \star (1 - pa)^{-\star} \star (\bar{a} - p) \frac{a}{|a|}$$
$$= (1 - 2\operatorname{Re}(a)p + p^2|a|^2)^{-1} (|a|^2 - 2\operatorname{Re}(a)p + p^2).$$

However, it is immediate that the product $(B_{a'_{k+1}}(p))^{*\mu_k}$ does not contain factors of the above form, thus all its zeros coincide with a_{k+1} as stated. The convergence of the Blaschke product follows as in Theorem 5.6.

If a Blaschke product of two factors has an entire sphere of zeros then, as discussed in the proof of the previous theorem, it has a specific form and we are led to the following definition:

Definition 5.13. Let $a \in \mathbb{H}$, |a| < 1. The function

(5.8)
$$B_{[a]}(p) = (1 - 2\operatorname{Re}(a)p + p^2|a|^2)^{-1}(|a|^2 - 2\operatorname{Re}(a)p + p^2)$$

is called Blaschke factor at the sphere [a].

Remark 5.14. Note that the definition of $B_{[a]}(p)$ does not depend on the choice of the point a that identifies the 2-sphere. Indeed all the elements in the sphere [a] have the same real part and module. It is easy to verify that Blaschke factor $B_{[a]}(p)$ vanishes on the sphere [a].

The following result is immediate:

Proposition 5.15. A Blaschke product having zeros at the set of spheres

$$Z = \{([c_1], \nu_1), ([c_2], \nu_2), \ldots\}$$

where $c_j \in \mathbb{B}$, the sphere $[c_j]$ is a zero of multiplicity ν_j , $j = 1, 2, \ldots$ and $\sum_{j \geq 1} \nu_j (1 - |c_j|) < \infty$ is given by

$$\prod_{j>1} (B_{[c_j]}(p))^{\nu_j}.$$

Proof. All the factors $B_{[c_j]}(p)$ have real coefficients and thus belong to the class \mathcal{N} (see Section 4), so we can use the pointwise product. The fact that the zeros are the given spheres follows by taking the zeros of each factor. The convergence of the infinite product follows as in Theorem 5.6.

Theorem 5.16. A Blaschke product having zeros at the set

$$Z = \{(a_1, \mu_1), (a_2, \mu_2), \dots, ([c_1], \nu_1), ([c_2], \nu_2), \dots\}$$

where $a_j \in \mathbb{B}$, a_j have respective multiplicities $\mu_j \geq 1$, $a_j \neq 0$ for $j = 1, 2, ..., [a_i] \neq [a_j]$ if $i \neq j$, $c_i \in \mathbb{B}$, the spheres $[c_j]$ have respective multiplicities $\nu_j \geq 1$, $j = 1, 2, ..., [c_i] \neq [c_j]$ if $i \neq j$ and

$$\sum_{i,j\geq 1} \left(\mu_i (1 - |a_i|) + \nu_j (1 - |c_j|) \right) < \infty$$

is given by

$$\prod_{i\geq 1} (B_{[c_i]}(p))^{\nu_i} \prod_{j\geq 1}^{\star} (B_{a'_j}(p))^{\star \mu_j},$$

where $a'_1 = a_1$ and $a'_j \in [a_j]$ are suitably chosen elements, $j = 2, 3, \ldots$

Proof. It follows from Propositions 5.10 and 5.12.

Theorem 5.17. Let B_a be a Blaschke factor. The operator

$$M_a: f \mapsto B_a \star f$$

is an isometry from $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ onto itself.

Proof. We first consider $f(p) = p^u h$ and $g(p) = p^v k$ where $u, v \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $h, k \in \mathbb{H}$, and show that

$$[B_a \star f, B_a \star g]_2 = \delta_{uv} \overline{k} h.$$

Using calculation (5.4), and with f and g as above, we have

$$(B_a \star f)(p) = p^u h|a| + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n+1+u} \overline{a}^{n+1} (|a| - \frac{1}{|a|})h$$

and

(5.10)
$$(B_a \star g)(p) = p^v k|a| + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n+1+v} \overline{a}^{n+1} (|a| - \frac{1}{|a|})k.$$

If u = v we have

$$[B_a \star f, B_a \star g]_2 = \overline{k}h\left(|a|^2 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |a|^{2n+2}(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|})^2\right) = \overline{k}h = [f, g]_2.$$

To compute $[f, g]_2$ we assume that u < v. Then, in view of (5.10) we have

$$[p^u h|a|, B_a \star g]_2 = 0.$$

So

$$[B_{a} \star f, B_{a} \star g]_{2} = \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n+1+u} \overline{a}^{n+1} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right) h, p^{v} |a| k\right]_{2} + \left[\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n+1+u} \overline{a}^{n+1} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right) h, \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} p^{m+1+v} \overline{a}^{m+1} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right) k\right]_{2}$$

$$= |a| \overline{k} \overline{a}^{v-u} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right) h + \left[\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} p^{m+1+v} \overline{a}^{m+1+v-u} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right) h, \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} p^{m+1+v} \overline{a}^{m+1} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right) k\right]_{2}$$

$$= |a| \overline{k} \overline{a}^{v-u} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right) h + \overline{k} \left(|a| - \frac{1}{|a|}\right)^{2} \overline{a}^{v-u} \frac{|a|^{2}}{1 - |a|^{2}} h$$

$$= 0$$

$$= [f, g]_{2}.$$

The case v < u is considered by symmetry of the inner product. Hence, (5.9) holds for polynomials. By continuity, and a corollary of the Runge theorem, see [23], it holds for all $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$.

We mention that similar computations hold in the case of bicomplex numbers. See [5].

6. Interpolation in the Hardy space

In this section we consider the following problem:

Problem 6.1. Given N points $a_1, \ldots, a_N \in \mathbb{B}$, and M spheres $[c_1], \ldots, [c_M]$ in \mathbb{B} such that the spheres $[a_1], \ldots, [a_N], [c_1], \ldots, [c_M]$ are pairwise non-intersecting, find all $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ such that

(6.1)
$$f(a_i) = 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$

and

(6.2)
$$f([c_j]) = 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, M.$$

Theorem 6.2. There is a Blaschke product B such that the solutions of Problem 6.1 are the functions $f = B \star g$, when g runs through $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$.

We give two proofs of this theorem, the first one iterative, using formula (3.2), and the second one global.

Proof. (Iterative proof). We proceed in three steps. As a preliminary computation we consider in the first step the case N = 1 and M = 0. The problem itself will be solved by considering the interpolation at the spheres first.

STEP 1: We solve the problem for M = 0 and N = 1.

Let B_{a_1} be the Blaschke factor (5.2) at a_1 . By (3.2), we have $(B_{a_1} \star f)(a_1) = 0$ for all $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. Furthermore, by Theorem 5.17 we have that $||B_{a_1} \star f||_2 = ||f||_2$. Thus for N = 1 the set \mathcal{M} of solutions to Problem 6.1 contains $B_{a_1} \star \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. We now prove that $\mathcal{M} \subseteq B_{a_1} \star \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. Let $f \in \mathcal{M}$. Then, by the reproducing kernel property, f is orthogonal to $(1 - p\overline{a_1})^{-\star}$. The range ran $\sqrt{I - M_{a_1}M_{a_1}^*}$ is equal to the span of $(1 - p\overline{a_1})^{-\star}$ (see [2]). In view of Theorem 5.17 we have $\sqrt{I - M_{a_1}M_{a_1}^*} = I - M_{a_1}M_{a_1}^*$ and thus:

$$\mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{B}) = (I - M_{a_{1}} M_{a_{1}}^{*}) \mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{B}) \oplus (M_{a_{1}} M_{a_{1}}^{*}) \mathbf{H}_{2}(\mathbb{B}).$$

Therefore $f \in (M_{a_1}M_{a_1}^*)\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. Hence $\mathcal{M} = B_{a_1} \star \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$.

With this preliminary computation at hand, we solve the interpolation problem by first considering the interpolation at the spheres $[c_1], \ldots, [c_M]$.

STEP 2: Consider the sphere $[c_j]$ and let $B_{[c_j]}$ be the corresponding Blaschke factor given by (5.8), j = 1, 2, ..., M. An element $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ vanishes on the spheres $[c_1], ..., [c_M]$ if and only it can be written as

(6.3)
$$f = B_{[c_1]} B_{[c_2]} \cdots B_{[c_M]} g,$$

where $g \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$.

Note that in (6.3) we have pointwise products since the Blaschke factors on spheres have real coefficients. By [27, Corollary 4.3.7, p. 123], f vanishes on the whole sphere $[c_1]$ if and only if $f(c_1) = f(\overline{c_1}) = 0$. By STEP 1, the first condition means that $f = B_{c_1} \star g$ for some $g \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. By (3.2), the second condition is equivalent to:

$$(6.4) B_{c_1}(\overline{c_1})g((B_{c_1}(\overline{c_1}))^{-1}\overline{c_1}B_{c_1}(\overline{c_1})) = 0.$$

Since $B_{c_1}(\overline{c_1}) \neq 0$, and taking into account (5.3), we see that (6.4) is equivalent to $g(\overline{c_1}) = 0$. Thus, once more using STEP 1, we have $g(p) = B_{\overline{c_1}} \star h$ for some $h \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. Therefore

$$f = B_{c_1} \star B_{\overline{c_1}} \star h = B_{[c_1]}h.$$

This argument can be iterated for the spheres $[c_2], \ldots, [c_M]$ since $B_{[c_2]}(c_1) \neq 0$ (this last inequality in turn following from the fact that the spheres do not intersect).

We now turn to the conditions (6.1). The function f is of the form (6.3), and thus the condition $f(a_1) = 0$ becomes

$$(B_{[c_1]}B_{[c_2]}\cdots B_{[c_M]})(a_1)g(a_1)=0,$$

and so, by STEP 1, $g = B_{a_1} \star g_1$ for some $g_1 \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. Let now $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ satisfying moreover $f(a_2) = 0$. By the previous argument, f is of the form

$$\left(B_{\lceil c_1 \rceil} B_{\lceil c_2 \rceil} \cdots B_{\lceil c_M \rceil}\right) B_{a_1} \star g_1$$

for some $g_1 \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. The condition $f(a_2) = 0$ and formula (3.2) gives

$$g(a_2') = 0$$
, where $a_2' = X^{-1}a_2X$,

with

$$X = (B_{[c_1]}B_{[c_2]}\cdots B_{[c_M]}B_{a_1})(a_2).$$

Hence f is a solution if and only if $g_2 = B_{a_2'} \star g_2$ for some $g_1 \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. The argument can be iterated and we obtain the set of all functions $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ which vanish at the points a_1, \ldots, a_N .

We now turn to the global proof of Theorem 6.2.

Proof. (Global proof). We proceed in a number of steps and first define \mathcal{M} to be the span of the functions

$$(1-pa_1)^{-\star}, \ldots, (1-pa_N)^{-\star}, (1-pc_1)^{-\star}, (1-p\overline{c_1})^{-\star}, \ldots, (1-pc_M)^{-\star}, (1-p\overline{c_M})^{-\star}.$$

Define

$$A = \operatorname{diag}(a_1, \ldots, a_N, c_1, \overline{c_1}, \ldots, c_M, \overline{c_M}),$$

and

$$c = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}}_{(N+2M) \text{ times}}.$$

Finally let \mathbf{P} denote the Gram matrix of \mathcal{M} in the $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ inner product. The claim of the first step is a direct consequence of the reproducing kernel property in $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$.

STEP 1: $f \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ is a solution of the interpolation problem 6.1 if and only if it is orthogonal to \mathcal{M} .

STEP 2: The matrix $\mathbf{P} \in \mathbb{H}^{(N+2M)\times(N+2M)}$ is strictly positive and satisfies the matrix equation (called a Stein equation)

$$(6.5) \mathbf{P} - A^* \mathbf{P} A = c^* c.$$

This step is also a consequence of the reproducing kernel property since, for $a, b \in \mathbb{B}$ it holds that:

$$[(1-p\overline{b})^{-\star}, (1-p\overline{a})^{-\star}]_2 = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a^n \overline{b}^n,$$

and so

$$[(1-p\overline{b})^{-\star}, (1-p\overline{a})^{-\star}]_2 - a[(1-p\overline{b})^{-\star}, (1-p\overline{a})^{-\star}]_2\overline{b} = 1.$$

STEP 3: There exists a vector $b \in \mathbb{H}^{N+2M}$ and $d \in \mathbb{H}$ such that

(6.6)
$$\begin{pmatrix} A & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{P}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}^* = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{P}^{-1} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since P > 0, it has a strictly positive square root. For this last fact, see for instance [8, Proposition 3.1.3, p. 440], and see the references [47, Corollary 6.2, p. 41] [14, 42]

for the structure of normal quaternionic matrices. Thus, the Stein equation (6.5) can be rewritten as $T^*T = I_{N+2M}$, where

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{P}^{1/2} A \mathbf{P}^{-1/2} \\ c \mathbf{P}^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus the columns of T form an N+2M orthogonal sets of vectors in \mathbb{H}^{N+2M+1} , and we can complete it to an orthonormal basis with a vector $h \in \mathbb{H}^{N+2M+1}$ such that

$$(T \quad h)^* (T \quad h) = I_{N+2M+1}.$$

The claim follows from the fact that $TT^* = I_{N+2M+1}$ with

(6.7)
$$\begin{pmatrix} b \\ d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{P}^{-1/2} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} h.$$

We now introduce

$$B(p) = d + pc \star (I - pA)^{-\star}b = d + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} p^{n+1}cA^nb.$$

Step 4 below is a particular case of Proposition 9.3 below, and its proof will be omitted.

STEP 4: The function B satisfies

(6.8)
$$C(I_{N+2M} - pA)^{-\star} \mathbf{P}^{-1} (C(I_{N+2M} - qA)^{-\star})^* = (1 - B(p)\overline{B(q)}) \star (1 - p\overline{q})^{-\star}.$$

Since $\mathbf{P}^{-1} > 0$ it follows from (6.8) that B is a Schur multiplier, and in particular, $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{ran} \sqrt{I - M_B M_B^*}$, where M_B denotes the operator of slice multiplication by B on the left (the square root exists because the operator has finite rank; more generally, any positive operator in a quaternionic Hilbert space has a positive square root. We will not need this general fact here). Since \mathcal{M} is finite dimensional, we have more precisely

(6.9)
$$\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{ran} \sqrt{I - M_B M_B^*} = \operatorname{ran} (I - M_B M_B^*).$$

STEP 5: The function $B \star g$ satisfies the interpolation conditions (6.1)-(6.2) for every $g \in \mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$.

We first prove that $(B \star g)(a_1) = 0$. The proof that $B \star g$ vanishes at the points a_2, \ldots, a_N and $c_1, \overline{c_1}, \ldots, c_M, \overline{c_M}$ is the same.

$$B(a_1) = d + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_1^{n+1} (\overline{a_1}^n \ \overline{a_2}^n \ \cdots \ \overline{a_N}^n) b$$

$$= d + a_1 (1 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0) \mathbf{P} b$$

$$= (a_1 (1 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0) \mathbf{P} \ 1) \begin{pmatrix} b \\ d \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= (a_1 (1 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0) \mathbf{P}^{1/2} \ 1) h \quad \text{(where we have used (6.7))}$$

$$= 0$$

by definition of h since

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{P}^{1/2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \overline{a_1} \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = T \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{P}^{1/2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \in \text{ran } T.$$

Let now $g(p) = p^m k$ with $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \in \mathbb{H}$. Then,

$$(B \star g)(p) = p^m B(p)k$$

and so the interpolation conditions (6.1)-(6.2) are met. The result is thus true for all slice hyperholomorphic polynomials in p, and hence, in view of the preceding step, for every element g in $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$ since convergence in norm implies pointwise convergence in a reproducing kernel Hilbert space.

STEP 6: The set of solutions is given by $f = B \star g$, when g runs through $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$.

By definition of \mathcal{M} and using (6.9) and the reproducing kernel property we see that ran $(I - M_B M_B^*)$ and ran $M_B M_B^*$ are orthogonal in $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$. Since the sum of these two ranges is the whole of $\mathbf{H}_2(\mathbb{B})$, we deduce that $\mathcal{M}^{\perp} = \operatorname{ran} M_B M_B^*$ and this ends the proof since ran $(M_B M_B^*) = \operatorname{ran} M_B$.

7. QUATERNIONIC PONTRYAGIN SPACES

Quaternionic Pontryagin spaces have been studied in [8]. In this section we review the main definitions, and prove in the setting of quaternionic spaces, an important result due to Shmulyan in the complex setting; see [46] and [3, Theorem 1.4.2, p. 29]. Consider a right vector space \mathscr{P} on the quaternions, endowed with a \mathbb{H} -valued Hermitian form $[\cdot, \cdot]$, meaning that

$$[va, wb] = \overline{b}[v, w]a, \quad \forall a, b \in \mathbb{H} \quad \text{and} \quad \forall v, w \in \mathscr{P}.$$

 \mathcal{P} is called a (right, quaternionic) Pontryagin space if it admits a decomposition

$$(7.1) \mathscr{P} = \mathscr{P}_{+} + \mathscr{P}_{-},$$

into a sum of two vector subspaces \mathscr{P}_+ and \mathscr{P}_- with the following properties:

- (1) $(\mathscr{P}_+, [\cdot, \cdot])$ is a (right, quaternionic) Hilbert space.
- (2) $(\mathscr{P}_{-}, -[\cdot, \cdot])$ is a finite dimensional (right, quaternionic) Hilbert space.
- (3) The sum (7.1) is direct and orthogonal: $\mathscr{P}_{+} \cap \mathscr{P}_{-} = \{0\}$ and

$$[v_+, v_-] = 0, \quad \forall v_+ \in \mathscr{P}_+ \quad \text{and} \quad \forall v_- \in \mathscr{P}_-.$$

The space \mathcal{P} endowed with the form

$$\langle v,w\rangle = [v_+,v_-] - [w_+,w_-], \quad v = v_+ + v_-, \ w = w_+ + w_-,$$

is a (right quaternionic) Hilbert space. The decomposition (7.1) is called a fundamental decomposition. It is not unique (except for the case where one of the components reduces to $\{0\}$), but all the corresponding Hilbert space topologies are equivalent; see [8, Theorem 12.3, p. 467]. The number $\kappa = \dim \mathscr{P}_{-}$ is called the index of the Pontryagin space \mathscr{P} . It is the same for all the decompositions; see [8, Proposition 12.6, p. 469]. The reader should be aware that in some sources on the complex valued case, and in

particular in [13, 35], the convention is the opposite, and it is the space \mathscr{P}_+ which is required to be finite dimensional.

An important example of finite dimensional Pontryagin space is:

Example 7.1. Let $J \in \mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ be a signature matrix. The space \mathbb{H}^N endowed with the Hermitian form

$$[v, w]_J = w^*Jv.$$

is a right quaternionic Pontryagin space, which we will denote by \mathbb{H}^N_I .

Before turning to Shmulyan's theorem we recall the following definition: Given two right quaternionic Pontryagin spaces $(\mathscr{P}_1, [\cdot, \cdot]_1)$ and $(\mathscr{P}_2, [\cdot, \cdot]_2)$ a linear relation between \mathscr{P}_1 and \mathscr{P}_2 is a right linear subspace, say R, of the product $\mathscr{P}_1 \times \mathscr{P}_2$. The domain of the relation is the set of elements $v_1 \in \mathscr{P}_1$ such that there exists a (not necessarily unique) $v_2 \in \mathscr{P}_2$ such that $(v_1, v_2) \in R$. The relation is called contractive if

$$[v_1, v_1]_1 \le [v_2, v_2]_2, \quad \forall (v_1, v_2) \in R.$$

The graph of an operator is a relation. A relation will be the graph of an operator if and only it has no elements of the form $(0, v_2)$ with $v_2 \neq 0$.

Theorem 7.2. A densely defined contractive relation between quaternionic Pontryagin spaces of same index extends to the graph of a contraction from \mathscr{P}_1 into \mathscr{P}_2 .

Proof. We follow the strategy of [3, p. 29-30] we divide the proof into a number of steps. We recall that a strictly negative subspace is a linear subspace V such that [v, v] < 0 for every non zero element of V.

STEP 1: The domain of the relation contains a maximum negative subspace.

Indeed, every dense linear subspace of a right quaternionic Pontryagin space of index $\kappa > 0$ contains a κ dimensional strictly negative subspace. See [8, Theorem 12.8 p. 470]. We denote by \mathcal{V}_{-} such a subspace of the domain of R.

STEP 2: The relation R restricted to \mathcal{V}_{-} has a zero kernel, and the image of \mathcal{V}_{-} is a strictly negative subspace of \mathscr{P}_{2} of dimension κ .

Let $(v_1, v_2) \in R$ with $v_1 \in \mathcal{V}_-$. Since R is contractive we have

$$[v_2, v_2]_2 \le [v_1, v_1]_1 \le 0,$$

and the second inequality is strict when $v_1 \neq 0$. Thus, the image of \mathscr{V}_- is a strictly negative subspace of \mathscr{P}_2 . Next, let $(v, w) \in R$ and (\widetilde{v}, w) with $v, \widetilde{v} \in \mathscr{V}_-$ and $w \in \mathscr{P}_2$. Then, $(v - \widetilde{v}, 0) \in R$. Since R is contractive we have

$$[0,0]_2 \leq [v-\widetilde{v},v-\widetilde{v}]_1$$

This forces $v = \tilde{v}$ since \mathscr{V}_{-} is strictly negative, and proves the second step.

STEP 3: R is the graph of a densely defined contraction.

We choose \mathscr{V}_{-} as in the first two steps, and take v_1, \ldots, v_{κ} a basis of \mathscr{V}_{-} . Then, there exists uniquely defined vectors $w_1, \ldots, w_{\kappa} \in \mathscr{P}_2$ such that $(v_i, w_i) \in R$ for $i = 1, \ldots, \kappa$. Set \mathscr{W}_{-} to be the linear span of w_1, \ldots, w_{κ} . By Step 2 and since the spaces \mathscr{P}_1 and \mathscr{P}_2 have the same negative index

$$\dim \mathcal{V}_{-} = \dim \mathcal{W}_{-} = \operatorname{ind}_{-} \mathcal{P}_{1} = \operatorname{ind}_{-} \mathcal{P}_{2},$$

and there exists fundamental decompositions

$$\mathscr{P}_1 = \mathscr{V}_- + \mathscr{V}_+$$
 and $\mathscr{P}_2 = \mathscr{W}_- + \mathscr{W}_+$,

where $(\mathscr{V}_+, [\cdot, \cdot]_1)$ and $(\mathscr{W}_+, [\cdot, \cdot]_2)$ are right quaternionic Hilbert spaces. Let now $(0, w) \in R$. We need to show that w = 0. Still following [3, p. 30] we write $w = w_- + w_+$ where $w_- \in \mathscr{W}_-$ and $w_+ \in \mathscr{W}_+$. Let $w_- = \sum_{n=1}^{\kappa} w_j q_j$ where the $q_j \in \mathbb{H}$, and set $v_- = \sum_{n=1}^{\kappa} v_j q_j$. Then, $(v_-, w_-) \in R$ and

$$(0, w) = (v_-, w_-) + (-v_-, w_+).$$

It follows that $(-v_-, w_+) \in R$. Since R is contractive, we have

$$[w_+, w_+]_2 \le [v_-, v_-]_1,$$

and so $[w_+, w_+]_2 \leq 0$. Thus $w_+ = 0$. It follows that $(0, w_-) \in R$ and so $w_- = 0$, because R is one-to-one on \mathscr{V}_- , as follows from STEP 2.

STEP 4: R extends to the graph of an everywhere defined contraction.

In the complex case, this is [3, Theorem 1.4.1 p. 27]. We follow the arguments there. We consider the orthogonal projection from \mathcal{P}_2 onto \mathcal{W}_- . Let T be the densely defined contraction with graph the relation R. There exist \mathbb{H} -valued right linear functionals c_1, \ldots, c_{κ} , defined on the domain of R, and such that

$$Tv = \sum_{n=1}^{\kappa} f_n c_n(v) + w_+,$$

where $w_+ \in \mathcal{W}_+$ is such that $[f_n, w_+]_2 = 0$ for $n = 1, 2, ..., \kappa$. Assume that c_1 is not bounded on its domain, let v_+ be such that $c_1(v_+) = 1$, and let v_n be vectors in \mathcal{V}_+ such that $c_1(v_n) = 1$ and $\lim_{n \to \infty} [v_+ - v_n, v_+ - v_n]_1 = 0$. Then v_+ belongs to the closure of ker c_1 and so, we have that the closure of ker $c_1 = \mathcal{V}_+$. Thus ker c_1 contains a strictly negative subspace of dimension κ , say \mathcal{K}_- . For $v \in \mathcal{K}_-$, we have

$$Tv = \sum_{n=2}^{n} f_n c_n(v).$$

This contradicts STEP 2 and thus completes the proof of the theorem.

8. Negative squares

The notion of kernels with a finite number of negative squares extend the notion of positive definite kernels. For this notion in the quaternionic case, we send the reader to [8, §11]. We recall that a $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ Hermitian matrix A has only real (right) eigenvalues. We denote by $\mathrm{sq}_{-}(A)$ the number of its strictly negative eigenvalues (if any).

Definition 8.1. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0$. A $\mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ -valued function $K(z, \omega)$ defined in a set Ω is said to have κ negative squares if it is Hermitian:

(8.1)
$$K(z, w) = K(w, z)^*, \quad \forall z, w \in \Omega,$$

and if, for every $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and every choice of $z_1, \ldots, z_N \in \Omega$ and $c_1, \ldots, c_N \in \mathbb{H}^N$, the $N \times N$ Hermitian matrix with ℓ, j entry equal to $c_\ell^* K(z_\ell, z_j) c_j$, has at most κ strictly negative eigenvalues, and has exactly κ strictly negative eigenvalues for some choice of $N, z_1, \ldots, z_N, c_1, \ldots, c_N$.

We will usually use the term kernel rather than function to denote such K(z, w)'s. When $\kappa = 0$, the kernel K(z, w) is positive definite. In the following theorem we recall the following quaternionic counterparts of results well known in the complex case. First a definition. A positive definite $\mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ -valued function Q(z, w) is said to be of finite rank if it can be factored as

$$Q(z, w) = N(z, w)^* N(z, w),$$

where N(z, w) is $\mathbb{H}^{N \times M}$ -valued for some $M \in \mathbb{N}$. The smallest such M is called the rank of Q.

Theorem 8.2.

(a) Let K(z, w) be an Hermitian $\mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ -valued function (see (8.1)) for z, w in some set Ω . Then, K has κ negative squares if and only if it can be written as a difference

$$K(z, w) = K_{+}(z, w) - K_{-}(z, w),$$

where both K_{+} and K_{-} are positive definite in Ω , with moreover K_{-} of finite rank.

(b) There is a one-to-one correspondence between right quaternionic reproducing kernel Pontryagin spaces of index κ , of \mathbb{H}^N -valued functions on a set Ω , and $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ -valued functions with κ negative squares in Ω .

For a proof of these facts, see [8, Theorems 11.5, p. 466 and 13.1, p. 472].

Theorem 8.3. Let K(p,q) be a $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ -valued function with κ negative squares in an open nonempty subset Ω of \mathbb{H} . Then there exists a unique right quaternionic reproducing kernel Pontryagin space \mathscr{P} consisting of \mathbb{H}^N -valued function slice hyperholomorphic in Ω and with reproducing kernel K(p,q).

Proof. The fact that there exists a unique Pontryagin space \mathscr{P} associated to K follows as in Theorem 13.1 in [8]. We have to show that the elements in \mathscr{P} are slice hyperholomorphic. Let $\mathscr{P}(K)$ be the linear span of the functions of the form $p \mapsto K(p,q)a$ where $q \in \Omega$ and $a \in \mathbb{H}^N$. Since K has κ negative squares, $\mathscr{P}(K)$ has a maximal strictly negative subspace \mathscr{N}_- of dimension κ . By Proposition 10.3 in [8] it is possible to write

$$\mathscr{P}(K) = \mathscr{N}_{-} + \mathscr{N}_{-}^{[\perp]},$$

where $\mathcal{N}_{-}^{[\perp]}$ is a quaternionic pre-Hilbert space. The space $\mathcal{N}_{-}^{[\perp]}$ has a unique completion, denoted by \mathcal{N}_{+} . Let us define

$$\mathscr{P} := \mathscr{N}_+ + \mathscr{N}_-,$$

with the inner product

$$[f, f] := [f_+, f_+]_{\mathscr{N}_+} + [f_-, f_-]_{\mathscr{N}_-}, \quad \text{where } f = f_+ + f_-, \quad f_{\pm} \in \mathscr{N}_{\pm}.$$

If f_1, \ldots, f_{κ} is an orthonormal basis of \mathscr{N}_- , then

(8.2)
$$K(p,q) - \sum_{j=1}^{\kappa} f_j(p) f_j(q)^*$$

is a reproducing kernel for \mathscr{N}_+ . The functions $f_j(p)$ are clearly slice hyperholomorphic in p since they belong to $\mathscr{P}(K)$ and so are the products $f_j(p)f_j(q)^*$ as well as the kernel (8.2). Therefore the elements in \mathscr{N}_+ are slice hyperholomorphic and so are the elements in \mathscr{P} . This concludes the proof.

9. Generalized Schur functions

Definition 9.1. Let J_1 and J_2 be two signature matrices, respectively in $\mathbb{H}^{N\times N}$ and $\mathbb{H}^{M\times M}$, and assume that $\operatorname{sq}_-J_1=\operatorname{sq}_-J_2$. A $\mathbb{H}^{N\times M}$ -valued function Θ , slice hyperholomorphic in a neighborhood \mathcal{V} of the origin, is called a generalized Schur function if the kernel

$$K_{\Theta}(p,q) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} p^{\ell} (J_2 - \Theta(p) J_1 \Theta(q)^*) \overline{q}^{\ell}$$

has a finite number, say κ , of negative squares in \mathcal{V} .

We will use the notation $\mathscr{S}_{\kappa}(J_2, J_1)$ for the class of such functions. When N = M = 1, $\kappa = 0$ and $J_1 = J_2 = 1$, this class was introduced in [2]. In the statement, a pair of operators (C, A) between appropriate spaces is called observable if

$$\bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} \ker CA^n = \{0\}.$$

Theorem 9.2. Let Θ be slice hyperholomorphic in a neighborhood of the origin. Then, it is in $\mathscr{S}_{\kappa}(J_2, J_1)$ if and only if it can written in the form

$$\Theta(p) = D + pC \star (I_{\mathscr{P}} - pA)^{-\star}B,$$

where \mathscr{P} is a right quaternionic Pontryagin space of index κ , where the pair (C, A) is observable, and the operator matrix satisfies

(9.2)
$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_{\mathscr{P}} & 0 \\ 0 & J_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^* = \begin{pmatrix} I_{\mathscr{P}} & 0 \\ 0 & J_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. We denote by $\mathscr{P}(\Theta)$ the right quaternionic reproducing kernel Pontryagin space with reproducing $K_{\Theta}(p,q)$. We follow the proof of [3, Theorem 2.2.1, p. 49], and we use the same densely defined linear relation as [2], but this time in $(\mathscr{P}(\Theta) \oplus \mathbb{H}_{J_2}^M) \times (\mathscr{P}(\Theta) \oplus \mathbb{H}_{J_1}^N)$. More precisely, R is now

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} K_{\Theta}(p,q)\overline{q}u \\ \overline{q}v \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} (K_{\Theta}(p,q) - K_{\Theta}(p,0))u + K_{\Theta}(p,0)\overline{q}v \\ (\Theta(q)^* - \Theta(0)^*)u + \Theta(0)^*\overline{q}v \end{pmatrix} \right\}.$$

Since $\operatorname{sq}_{-}(J_1) = \operatorname{sq}_{-}(J_2)$, these Pontryagin spaces have same negative index, and we then use Shmulyan's result to conclude. The arguments are similar to those in [2] and will be omitted.

We now characterize finite dimensional $\mathscr{P}(s)$ spaces. We begin with a preliminary proposition.

Proposition 9.3. Let

(9.3)
$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H & 0 \\ 0 & J_1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^* = \begin{pmatrix} H & 0 \\ 0 & J_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

(9.4)
$$s(p) = D + pC \star (I - pA)^{-\star}B.$$

Then it holds that

$$J_2 - s(p)J_1s(q)^* = C \star (I - pA)^{-\star} \star (H - pH\bar{q}) \star_r (I - qA)^{-\star} \star_r C^*.$$

Proof. We rewrite the matrix identity (9.3) as:

$$J_2 - DJ_1D^* = CHC^*$$

$$BJ_1B^* = H - AHA^*$$

$$AHC^* = -BJ_1D^*.$$

In the sequel, for the sake of simplicity, we will write \star instead of \star_l . Let s(p) be given by (9.4), and consider the function $J_2 - s(p)J_1s(q)^*$ which is slice hyperholomorphic in p and \overline{q} on the left and on the right, respectively. Let us compute

$$J_2 - s(p)J_1s(q)^* =$$
= $J_2 - (D + pC \star (I - pA)^{-*}B)J_1(D + qC \star (I - qA)^{-*}B)^*.$

In order to preserve the hyperholomorphicity in p, \overline{q} we take, accordingly, the \star - product in p and \star_r -product in \overline{q} and we obtain:

$$J_{2} - s(p)J_{1}s(q)^{*}$$

$$= J_{2} - (D + pC \star (I - pA)^{-\star}B)J_{1}(D^{*} + B^{*} \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-\star})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}\bar{q})$$

$$= J_{2} - DJ_{1}D^{*} - pC \star (I - pA)^{-\star}BJD^{*} - DJ_{1}B^{*} \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-\star})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}\bar{q}$$

$$- pC \star (I - pA)^{-\star}BJ_{1}B^{*} \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-\star})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}\bar{q}.$$

Using the relations implied by (9.3) and the identities (9.6), we obtain

$$J_{2} - s(p)J_{1}s(q)^{*}$$

$$= CHC^{*} + pC \star (I - pA)^{-*}AHC^{*} + CHA^{*} \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-*})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}\bar{q}$$

$$- pC \star (I - pA)^{-*}(H - AHA^{*}) \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-*})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}\bar{q}$$

$$= C \star (I - pA)^{-*} \star \left[(I - pA)HC^{*} + pAHC^{*} + (I - pA)HA^{*} \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-*})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}\bar{q} \right]$$

$$- p(H - AHA^{*}) \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-*})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}\bar{q}$$

$$= C \star (I - pA)^{-*} \star \left[(I - pA)H(I - qA)^{*} + pAH(I - qA)^{*} + (I - pA)HA^{*}\bar{q} \right]$$

$$- p(H - AHA^{*})\bar{q} \right] \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-*})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}$$

$$= C \star (I - pA)^{-*} \star \left[H - HA^{*}\bar{q} - pAH + pAHA^{*}\bar{q} + pAH$$

$$- pAHA^{*}\bar{q} + HA^{*}\bar{q} - pAHA^{*}\bar{q} - pH\bar{q} + pAHA^{*}\bar{q} \right] \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-*})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}$$

$$= C \star (I - pA)^{-*} \star (H - pH\bar{q}) \star_{r} ((I - qA)^{-*})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*}.$$

We can also write, in an equivalent way:

$$J_{2} - s(p)J_{1}s(q)^{*}$$

$$= C \star (I - pA)^{-\star}H \star (1 - p\bar{q}) \star_{r} (I - qA)^{-\star} \star_{r} C^{*}$$

$$= C \star (I - pA)^{-\star} \star (1 - p\bar{q}) \star_{r} H((I - qA)^{-\star})^{*} \star_{r} C^{*},$$

or

$$J_2 - s(p)J_1s(q)^* = (C \star (I - pA)^{-\star}) \star (H - pH\bar{q}) \star_r (C \star (I - qA)^{-\star})^*.$$

Specializing Theorem 9.2 to the finite dimensional case we obtain:

Theorem 9.4. Let s be a generalized Schur function. The associated space right reproducing kernel Pontryagin space $\mathcal{P}(s)$ is finite dimensional if and only there exists a finite dimensional right Pontryagin space \mathcal{P} such that:

$$s(p) = D + pC \star (I - pA)^{-\star}B,$$

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} : \mathscr{P} \oplus \mathbb{H}^{M}_{J_{2}} \longrightarrow \mathscr{P} \oplus \mathbb{H}^{N}_{J_{1}}$$

is coisometric, that is:

(9.5)
$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_{\mathscr{P}} & 0 \\ 0 & J_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^* = \begin{pmatrix} I_{\mathscr{P}} & 0 \\ 0 & J_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. One half of the theorem follows from the preceding proposition, while the other half is a special case of Theorem 9.2.

Here we focus on the case M = N and $\mathcal{P}(s)$ finite dimensional.

Definition 9.5. Let $J \in \mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ be a signature function. The $\mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ -valued generalized function s belongs to $s \in \mathcal{U}_{\kappa}(J)$ if the space $\mathscr{P}(s)$ is finite dimensional and if $\operatorname{sq}_{-}(s) = \kappa$.

Theorem 9.6. $s \in \mathcal{U}_{\kappa}(J)$ and it is slice hyperholomorphic in a neighborhood of the origin and only if it admits a realization

$$s(p) = D + pC \star (I - pA)^{-\star}B$$

where A, B, C and D are matrices such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} H & 0 \\ 0 & J \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}^* = \begin{pmatrix} H & 0 \\ 0 & J \end{pmatrix}$$

for some Hermitian matrix $H \in \mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$.

Proof. First of all we observe that, if f(p) is a (left) slice hyperholomorphic function, and C is a matrix, we have the following identities which immediately follow from the definition of (left) slice hyperholomorphic product:

$$(9.6) pC \star_l f(p) = C \star_l pf(p) = C \star_l f(p) \star_l p.$$

An analogous property holds for the right slice hyperholomorphic product. It is also useful to recall that (compare with Section 3), if f, g are left slice hyperholomorphic functions, then $(f \star_l g)^* = g^* \star_r f^*$ and that $f \star_l C = fC$, and analogously, if h is right slice hyperholomorphic then $C \star_r h = Ch$.

For the complex-valued counterparts of the results in this section we refer to [6, 4]. These last papers also suggest factorization results, which will be considered elsewhere.

10. Generalized Carathéodory functions

To conclude this paper we briefly study the counterparts of the kernels (1.2).

Definition 10.1. Let $J \in \mathbb{H}^{N \times N}$ be a signature matrix. A $\mathbb{C}^{N \times N}$ -valued function φ slice hyperholomorphic in a neighborhood \mathcal{V} of the origin is called a generalized Carathéodory function if the kernel

$$k_{\varphi}(p,q) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} p^{\ell}(\varphi(p)J + J\varphi(q)^*)\overline{q}^{\ell}$$

has a finite number, say κ , of negative squares in \mathcal{V} .

We will use the notation $\mathscr{C}_{\kappa}(J)$ for the class of such functions. In the case of analytic functions, and for N=1 and $\kappa=0$, these functions appear in particular in the work of Herglotz, see [34], [30]. Still for analytic functions, these classes were introduced and studied by Krein and Langer, also in the operator-valued case. See [36]. We now give a realization theorem for such functions, which is the counterpart in the present setting of a result of Krein and Langer, see [36]. As for the realization of generalized Schur functions, we build a densely defined relation, and apply Shmulyan's theorem (Theorem 7.2 above). We follow in the present setting the arguments in [12, Theorem 5.2, p. 708]. For the notion of observability in the statement of the theorem, see (9.1). It is equivalent to:

(10.1)
$$C \star (I - pV)^{-\star} f \equiv 0 \Longrightarrow f = 0.$$

Theorem 10.2. A $\mathbb{C}^{N\times N}$ -valued function φ slice hyperholomorphic in a neighborhood \mathcal{V} of the origin belongs to $\mathscr{C}_{\kappa}(J)$ if and only if it can be written as

(10.2)
$$\varphi(p) = \frac{1}{2}C \star (I_{\mathscr{P}} + pV) \star (I_{\mathscr{P}} - pV)^{-\star}C^{*}J + \frac{\varphi(0) - J\varphi(0)^{*}J}{2},$$

where \mathscr{P} is a right quaternionic Pontryagin space of index κ , V is a co-isometry in \mathscr{P} , and C is a bounded operator from \mathscr{P} into \mathbb{H}^N , and the pair (C, A) is observable.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{L}(\varphi)$ denote the reproducing kernel right quaternionic Pontryagin space of functions slice hyperholomorphic in \mathcal{V} , with reproducing kernel $k_{\varphi}(p,q)$, and proceed in a number of steps. Note that in the sequel, for the sake of simplicity, we will write I to denote the identity without specifying the space on which it is defined.

STEP 1: The linear relation consisting of the pairs $(F,G) \in \mathcal{L}(\varphi) \times \mathcal{L}(\varphi)$ with

$$F(p) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{\varphi}(p, p_j) \overline{p_j} b_j, \quad and \quad G(p) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{\varphi}(p, p_j) b_j - k_{\varphi}(p, 0) \left(\sum_{\ell=1}^{n} b_{\ell} \right),$$

where n varies in \mathbb{N} , $p_1, \ldots, p_n \in \mathcal{V} \subset \mathbb{H}$ and $b_1, \ldots, b_n \in \mathbb{H}^N$ is isometric, and where by $\overline{p_j}b_j$ we mean multiplication on the right by p_j on all the components of b_j .

We need to check that

$$[F, F]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)} = [G, G]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)}.$$

We have

$$[F, F]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)} = \left[\sum_{j=1}^{n} k_{\varphi}(p, p_{j}) \overline{p_{j}} b_{j}, \sum_{k=1}^{n} k_{\varphi}(p, p_{k}) \overline{p_{k}} b_{k}\right]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)}$$

$$= \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} p_{k} k_{\varphi}(p_{k}, p_{j}) \overline{p_{j}} b_{j}$$

$$= \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} p_{k}^{\ell+1} (\varphi(p_{k}) J + J \varphi(p_{j})^{*}) \overline{p_{j}}^{\ell+1} b_{j},$$

while the inner product $[G,G]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)}$ is a sum of four terms: The first is

$$\sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_k^* k_{\varphi}(p_k, p_j) b_j = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_k^* p_k^{\ell}(\varphi(p_k) J + J \varphi(p_j)^*) \overline{p_j}^{\ell} b_j.$$

Let

$$b = \sum_{\ell=1}^{n} b_{\ell}.$$

The second and third terms are

$$-\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} k_{\varphi}(p_{k}, 0)\right) b = -\sum_{k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} (\varphi(p_{k}) J + J\varphi(0)^{*}) b$$
$$= -\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} \varphi(p_{k}) J\right) b - b^{*} J\varphi(0)^{*} b,$$

and

$$-b^* \left(\sum_{k=1}^n k_{\varphi}(0, p_j) b_j \right) = \sum_{k=1}^n b^* (\varphi(0) J + J \varphi(p_j)^*) b_k$$
$$= -b^* \varphi(0) J b - b^* \left(\sum_{j=1}^n J \varphi(p_j)^* b_j \right),$$

respectively, and the fourth term is

$$b^*k_{\varphi}(0,0)b = b^*(\varphi(0)J + J\varphi(0)^*)b.$$

Equation (10.3) follows since

$$[F, F]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)} - \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} k_{\varphi}(p_{k}, p_{j}) b_{j} = \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} p_{k}^{\ell+1}(\varphi(p_{k})J + J\varphi(p_{j})^{*}) \overline{p_{j}}^{\ell+1} b_{j} - \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} p_{k}^{\ell}(\varphi(p_{k})J + J\varphi(p_{j})^{*}) \overline{p_{j}}^{\ell} b_{j}$$

$$= \sum_{j,k=1}^{n} b_{k}^{*} (\varphi(p_{k})J + J\varphi(p_{j})^{*}) b_{j}.$$

The domain of R is dense. Thus by Shmulyan's theorem (Theorem 7.2 above), R is the graph of a densely defined isometry, which extends to an isometry to all of $\mathcal{L}(\varphi)$. We denote by T this extension.

STEP 2: We compute the adjoint of the operator T.

Let $f \in \mathcal{L}(\varphi)$, $h \in \mathbb{H}^N$ and $p \in \mathcal{V}$. We have:

$$h^* p ((T^* f)(p)) = [T^* f, k_{\varphi}(\cdot, p) \overline{p} h]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)}$$

$$= [f, T(k_{\varphi}(\cdot, p) h)]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)}$$

$$= [f, k_{\varphi}(\cdot, p) h - k_{\varphi}(\cdot, 0) h]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)}$$

$$= h^* (f(p) - f(0)),$$

and hence (with $f(p) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} p^{\ell} f_{\ell}$)

$$(T^*f)(p) = \begin{cases} p^{-1}(f(p) - f(0)), & p \neq 0, \\ f_1, & p = 0. \end{cases}$$

STEP 3: Formula (10.2) is in force.

We first note that $f_{\ell} = CR_0^{\ell}f$, and so

$$f(p) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} p^{\ell} C R_0^{\ell} f = C \star (I - pR_0)^{-\star} f.$$

Applying this formula to the function $C^*1 = k_{\varphi}(\cdot, 0)$ we obtain:

$$\varphi(p)J + J\varphi(0)^* = C \star (I - pR_0)^{-\star}C^*1$$
 and $\varphi(0)J + J\varphi(0)^* = CC^*1$.

Multiplying the second equality by 1/2 and making the difference with the first equality we get

$$\varphi(p)J + \frac{1}{2}(J\varphi(0)^* - \varphi(0)J) = \frac{1}{2}C \star (I - pR_0)^{-\star} \star (I + pR_0)C^*.$$

STEP 4: We show that conversely, every function of the form (10.2) is in $\mathscr{C}_{\kappa}(J)$.

From (10.2) we obtain

$$(10.4) \qquad \varphi(p)J + J\varphi(q)^*J = C \star (I - pV)^{-\star} \star (1 - p\overline{q}) \star_r ((I - qV)^{-\star})^* \star_r C^*.$$

So the reproducing kernel of $\mathscr{L}(\varphi)$ can be written as

$$k_{\varphi}(p,q) = C \star (I - pV)^{-\star} ((I - qV)^{-\star})^* \star_r C^*,$$

since, in view of (10.4), the right side of the above equation satisfies

$$k_{\varphi}(p,q) - pk_{\varphi}(p,q)\overline{q} = \varphi(p)J + J\varphi(q)^*J.$$

In view of (10.1), $\mathcal{L}(\varphi)$ consists of the functions of the form

$$f(p) = C \star (I - pV)^{-\star} \xi, \quad \xi \in \mathscr{P},$$

with the inner product

$$[f,g]_{\mathscr{L}(\varphi)} = [\xi,\eta]_{\mathscr{P}} \quad \text{(with} \quad g(p) = C \star (I-pV)^{-\star}\eta),$$

and so the kernel k_{φ} has exactly κ negative squares.

Corollary 10.3. When $J = I_N$ and $\kappa = 0$, the function φ has a slice holomorphic extension to all of the unit ball of \mathbb{H} .

Proof. This follows from (10.2) since V is then contractive.

When $J = I_N$, and in the complex variable setting generalized Carathéodory functions admit another representation, namely

(10.5)
$$\varphi(z) = g(z)\varphi_0(z)g(1/\overline{z})^*,$$

where φ_0 is a Carathéodory function (that is, the corresponding kernel is positive definite) and g is analytic and invertible in the open unit disk. See [31, 29, 28]. We note that in the rational case, generalized Carathéodory functions are called generalized positive functions, and play an important role in linear system theory. We refer to [7] for a survey of the literature and a constructive proof of the factorization (10.5) (in the half-line case) in the scalar rational case.

References

- [1] D. Alpay. The Schur algorithm, reproducing kernel spaces and system theory. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001. Translated from the 1998 French original by Stephen S. Wilson, Panoramas et Synthèses. [Panoramas and Syntheses].
- [2] D. Alpay, F. Colombo, and I. Sabadini. Schur functions and their realizations in the slice hyperholomorphic setting. Integral Equations and Operator Theory, 72: 253–289, 2012.
- [3] D. Alpay, A. Dijksma, J. Rovnyak, and H. de Snoo. Schur functions, operator colligations, and reproducing kernel Pontryagin spaces, volume 96 of Operator theory: Advances and Applications. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1997.
- [4] D. Alpay and H. Dym. On applications of reproducing kernel spaces to the Schur algorithm and rational *J*-unitary factorization. In I. Gohberg, editor, *I. Schur methods in operator theory and signal processing*, volume 18 of *Operator Theory: Advances and Applications*, pages 89–159. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1986.
- [5] D. Alpay, M. E. Luna Elizarraras, M. Shapiro, and D.C. Struppa. Rational functions and Hilbert type modules in the context of bicomplex analysis, II. Linear system theory (tentative title). In preparation.
- [6] D. Alpay and I. Gohberg. Unitary rational matrix functions. In I. Gohberg, editor, Topics in interpolation theory of rational matrix-valued functions, volume 33 of Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, pages 175–222. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1988.
- [7] D. Alpay and I. Lewkowicz. An easy-to-compute factorization of rational generalized positive functions. System & Control Letters, 59:517–521, 2010.
- [8] D. Alpay and M. Shapiro. Reproducing kernel quaternionic Pontryagin spaces. *Integral Equations and Operator Theory*, 50:431–476, 2004.
- [9] D. Alpay, M. Shapiro, and D. Volok. Espaces de de Branges Rovnyak: le cas hyper-analytique. Comptes Rendus Mathématiques, 338:437–442, 2004.

- [10] D. Alpay, M. Shapiro, and D. Volok. Rational hyperholomorphic functions in \mathbb{R}^4 . J. Funct. Anal., 221(1):122-149, 2005.
- [11] D. Alpay, M. Shapiro, and D. Volok. Reproducing kernel spaces of series of Fueter polynomials. In Operator theory in Krein spaces and nonlinear eigenvalue problems, volume 162 of Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., pages 19–45. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2006.
- [12] D. Alpay, O. Timoshenko, and D. Volok. Carathéodory functions in the Banach space setting. Linear Algebra Appl., 425:700–713, 2007.
- [13] J. Bognár. Indefinite inner product spaces. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1974.
- [14] J. L. Brenner. Matrices of quaternions. Pacific J. Math., 1:329–335, 1951.
- [15] F. Colombo, G. Gentili, I. Sabadini, and D. C. Struppa. Extension results for slice regular functions of a quaternionic variable. Adv. Math., 222(5):1793–1808, 2009.
- [16] F. Colombo, G. Gentili, I. Sabadini, and D. C. Struppa. Non commutative functional calculus: bounded operators. *Complex Anal. Oper. Theory*, 4(4):821–843, 2010.
- [17] F. Colombo, J. O. Gonzalez-Cervantes, and I. Sabadini. A non constant coefficients differential operator associated to slice monogenic functions. To appear in Transactions of the American Mathematical Society.
- [18] F. Colombo and I. Sabadini. On some properties of the quaternionic functional calculus. *J. Geom. Anal.*, 19(3):601–627, 2009.
- [19] F. Colombo and I. Sabadini. A structure formula for slice monogenic functions and some of its consequences. In *Hypercomplex analysis*, Trends Math., pages 101–114. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2009.
- [20] F. Colombo and I. Sabadini. The Cauchy formula with s-monogenic kernel and a functional calculus for noncommuting operators. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 373(2):655–679, 2011.
- [21] F. Colombo and I. Sabadini. The quaternionic evolution operator. Adv. Math., 227(5):1772–1805, 2011.
- [22] F. Colombo and I. Sabadini. The \mathcal{F} -spectrum and the \mathcal{SC} -functional calculus. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, Section A, 142:1–22, 2012.
- [23] F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, and D. C. Struppa. The Runge theorem for slice hyperholomorphic functions. *Proceedings American Mathematical Society*, 139:1787–1803, 2011.
- [24] F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, and D. C. Struppa. A new functional calculus for noncommuting operators. J. Funct. Anal., 254(8):2255–2274, 2008.
- [25] F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, and D. C. Struppa. Slice monogenic functions. *Israel J. Math.*, 171:385–403, 2009.
- [26] F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, and D. C. Struppa. An extension theorem for slice monogenic functions and some of its consequences. *Israel J. Math.*, 177:369–389, 2010.
- [27] F. Colombo, I. Sabadini, and D. C. Struppa. Noncommutative functional calculus. Theory and applications of slice hyperholomorphic functions., volume 289 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011.
- [28] V. Derkach, S. Hassi, and H. de Snoo. Operator models associated with Kac subclasses of generalized Nevanlinna functions. Methods Funct. Anal. Topology, 5(1):65–87, 1999.
- [29] A. Dijksma, H. Langer, A. Luger, and Yu. Shondin. A factorization result for generalized Nevanlinna functions of the class \mathcal{N}_{κ} . Integral Equations Operator Theory, 36(1):121–125, 2000.
- [30] B. Fritzsche and B. Kirstein, editors. Ausgewählte Arbeiten zu den Ursprüngen der Schur-Analysis, volume 16 of Teubner-Archiv zur Mathematik. B.G. Teubner Verlagsgesellschaft, Stuttgart-Leipzig, 1991.
- [31] Y. Genin. The index theory of pseudo-Carathéodory functions. Applications to the linear system stability (Toeplitz lectures 1987, Tel-Aviv, 1987), Integral Equations and Operator Theory, 10: 640–658, 1987.
- [32] G. Gentili and D. C. Struppa. A new theory of regular functions of a quaternionic variable. *Adv. Math.*, 216(1):279–301, 2007.
- [33] M. Hazewinkel, J. Lewis, and C. Martin. Symmetric systems with semisimple structure algebra: the quaternionic case. *Systems Control Lett.*, 3(3):151–154, 1983.
- [34] G. Herglotz. Uber Potenzenreihen mit positiven reelle Teil im Einheitskreis. Sitzungsber Sachs. Akad. Wiss. Leipzig, Math, 63:501–511, 1911.

- [35] I.S. Iohvidov, M.G. Kreĭn, and H. Langer. Introduction to the spectral theory of operators in spaces with an indefinite metric. Akademie-Verlag, Berlin, 1982.
- [36] M.G. Kreĭn and H. Langer. Uber die verallgemeinerten Resolventen und die charakteristische Funktion eines isometrischen Operators im Raume Π_k. In Hilbert space operators and operator algebras (Proc. Int. Conf. Tihany, 1970), pages 353–399. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1972. Colloquia Math. Soc. János Bolyai.
- [37] M.G. Krein and H. Langer. Über einige Fortsetzungsprobleme, die eng mit der Theorie hermitescher Operatoren im Raume π_k zusammenhangen. I. Einige Funktionenklassen und ihre Darstellungen. *Math. Nachrichten*, 77:187–236, 1977.
- [38] M.G. Kreĭn and H. Langer. Über einige Fortsetzungsprobleme, die eng mit der Theorie hermitescher Operatoren im Raume Π_{κ} zusammenhängen. II. Verallgemeinerte Resolventen, u-Resolventen und ganze Operatoren. J. Funct. Anal., 30(3):390–447, 1978.
- [39] M.G. Kreĭn and H. Langer. On some extension problems which are closely connected with the theory of Hermitian operators in a space Π_{κ} . III. Indefinite analogues of the Hamburger and Stieltjes moment problems. Part I. Beiträge Anal., 14:25–40 (loose errata), 1979.
- [40] M.G. Kreĭn and H. Langer. On some extension problems which are closely connected with the theory of Hermitian operators in a space Π_{κ} . III. Indefinite analogues of the Hamburger and Stieltjes moment problems. Part II. Beiträge Anal., 15:27–45 (1981), 1980.
- [41] M.G. Kreĭn and H. Langer. Some propositions on analytic matrix functions related to the theory of operators in the space π_k . Acta Sci. Math., 43:181–205, 1981.
- [42] H. C. Lee. Eigenvalues and canonical forms of matrices with quaternion coefficients. *Proc. Roy. Irish Acad. Sect. A.*, 5:253–260, 1949.
- [43] R. Pereira. Quaternionic Polynomials and Behavioral Systems. PhD thesis, University of Aveiro, 2006.
- [44] R.Pereira, P. Rocha, and P. Vettori. Algebraic tools for the study of quaternionic behavioral systems. *Linear Algebra Appl.*, 400:121–140, 2005.
- [45] R. Pereira and P. Vettori. Stability of quaternionic linear systems. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Control*, 51(3):518–523, 2006.
- [46] Y.L. Shmul'yan. Division in the class of J-expansive operators. Math. Sb., 116:516—525, 1967.
- [47] F. Zhang. Quaternions and matrices of quaternions. Linear Algebra Appl., 251:21–57, 1997.
- (DA) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, BENGURION UNIVERSITY OF THE NEGEV, BEER-SHEVA 84105 ISRAEL

E-mail address: dany@math.bgu.ac.il

(FC) Politecnico di Milano, Dipartimento di Matematica, Via E. Bonardi, 9, 20133 Milano, Italy

E-mail address: fabrizio.colombo@polimi.it

(IS) Politecnico di Milano, Dipartimento di Matematica, Via E. Bonardi, 9, 20133 Milano, Italy

E-mail address: irene.sabadini@polimi.it